

Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect

Autoimmunity Reviews

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/autrev



Review

Vitamin D effects on musculoskeletal health, immunity, autoimmunity, cardiovascular disease, cancer, fertility, pregnancy, dementia and mortality—A review of recent evidence

Pawel Pludowski ^{a,*}, Michael F. Holick ^b, Stefan Pilz ^{c,d}, Carol L. Wagner ^e, Bruce W. Hollis ^e, William B. Grant ^f, Yehuda Shoenfeld ^g, Elisabeth Lerchbaum ^c, David J. Llewellyn ^h, Katharina Kienreich ^c, Maya Soni ^h

- ^a Department of Biochemistry, Radioimmunology and Experimental Medicine, The Children's Memorial Health Institute, Warsaw, Poland
- b Department of Medicine, Section of Endocrinology, Nutrition, and Diabetes, Vitamin D, Skin and Bone Research Laboratory, Boston University Medical Center, Boston, MA, USA
- ^c Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Medical University of Graz, Austria
- d Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, EMGO Institute for Health and Care Research, VU University Medical Centre, Amsterdam, The Netherlands
- e Division of Neonatology, Department of Pediatrics, Children's Research Institute, Medical University of South Carolina, Charleston, SC, USA
- ^f Sunlight, Nutrition, and Health Research Center, San Francisco, CA, USA
- g Zabludowicz Center for Autoimmune Diseases, Chaim Sheba Medical Center, Incumbent of the Laura Schwarz-Kipp Chair for Research of Autoimmune Diseases, Sackler Faculty of Medicine, Tel-Aviv University, Israel
- ^h University of Exeter Medical School, Exeter, United Kingdom

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 12 February 2013 Accepted 28 February 2013 Available online 28 March 2013

Keywords: Vitamin D 25(OH)D level Falls Fractures Cardiovascular Cancer Immunity Autoimmunity Fertility Pregnancy Infancy Infancy Infections Mortality Dementia

ABSTRACT

Background: Optimal vitamin D intake and its status are important not only for bone and calcium-phosphate metabolism, but also for overall health and well-being. Vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency as a global health problem are likely to be a risk for wide spectrum of acute and chronic illnesses.

Methods: A review of randomized controlled trials, meta-analyses, and other evidence of vitamin D action on various health outcomes.

Results: Adequate vitamin D status seems to be protective against musculoskeletal disorders (muscle weakness, falls, fractures), infectious diseases, autoimmune diseases, cardiovascular disease, type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus, several types of cancer, neurocognitive dysfunction and mental illness, and other diseases, as well as infertility and adverse pregnancy and birth outcomes. Vitamin D deficiency/insufficiency is associated with all-cause mortality.

Conclusions: Adequate vitamin D supplementation and sensible sunlight exposure to reach optimal vitamin D status are among the front line factors of prophylaxis for the spectrum of disorders. Supplementation guidance and population strategies for the eradication of vitamin D deficiency must be included in the priorities of physicians, medical professionals and healthcare policy-makers.

© 2013 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	977
2.	Defining vitamin D deficiency and its consequences on skeletal health	977
3.	Vitamin D and musculoskeletal system	978

E-mail address: p.pludowski@czd.pl (P. Pludowski).

Sources of support: This work is supported in part by the Grant of MNiSW 5412/B/P01/2010/39, EU Structural Grant # POIG.02.01.00-14-059/09, NIH CTSI Grant # UL1-RR025771, The Thrasher Research Fund, NIH RR01070, UL1 RR029882, The Children's Memorial Health Institute Internal Grants S109/2009 and 181/2007, The Alzheimer's Association Grant # NIRG-11-200737, and the Department of Biochemistry, Radioimmunology and Medicine, The Children's Memorial Health Institute, Warsaw, Poland as well as the Division of Neonatology, Medical University of South Carolina, Charleston, SC, USA.

^{*} Corresponding author at: The Children's Memorial Health Institute, Department of Biochemistry, Radioimmunology and Experimental Medicine, Aleja Dzieci Polskich 20, 04-730 Warsaw, Poland.

4.	Vitamin D and immunity	979
5.	Vitamin D and cardiovascular disease	980
6.	Vitamin D and cancer	981
7.	Vitamin D and mortality	981
8.	Vitamin D and fertility	982
9.	Vitamin D during pregnancy and early infancy	983
10.	Vitamin D and dementia	984
11.	Conclusion	985
Take-	home messages	985
Refer	ences	985

1. Introduction

Vitamin D was originally recognized as a vitamin needed in small amounts to affect the metabolism of calcium and phosphate. It has been known that rickets was caused by the lack of this important compound. After the role of vitamin D for calcium and phosphate metabolism was understood, rickets was almost eradicated at least in the modern world. The thousands of studies carried out to decipher the role of vitamin D in our body led to the finding of vitamin D receptors linked to chromosomes in almost every cell and tissue in the body, thus leading to its important effects on different organs. These effects and the facts that vitamin D is made in the skin by ultraviolet-B (UVB) irradiance followed by a thermal process, and that the active vitamin D circulates in the blood created a new understanding of vitamin D as a hormone.

2. Defining vitamin D deficiency and its consequences on skeletal health

Some debate remains as to what blood level 25-hydroxyvitamin D [25(OH)D] should be for an optimal skeletal health [1–4]. It has been suggested that rickets is not seen for serum 25(OH)D < 15 ng/mL [2]. Others have suggested that to maximize bone health in children and adults, the blood level of 25(OH)D should be at least 20 ng/mL [2]. Rickets is an overt manifestation of long-standing vitamin D deficiency that is also associated with an elevated serum alkaline phosphatase, elevated serum parathyroid hormone, 25(OH)D below 15 ng/mL, elevated 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D [1,25(OH)₂D], low or low normal serum phosphorus and either a normal or low serum level of calcium [6,7]. Rickets therefore should not be used as a bellwether for determining what the cut off should be for 25(OH)D to define vitamin D deficiency bone disease in infants and children. Classic skeletal abnormalities including valus and valgus deformities of the legs, widened epiphyseal plates at the ends of the long bones and costochondral junctions (rachitic rosary), Harrison's groove of the sternum, frontal bossing, widening of the fontanelles and softening of borders of the fontanelles (craniotabes) are not usually observed until the infant is at least 6 months of age and some do not appear until the infant begins to walk [6,7]. For adults, vitamin D deficiency bone disease is even more subtle since the epiphyseal plates are closed and the skeleton has enough calcium to prevent skeletal deformities such as bowed legs.

Vitamin D deficiency in both children and adults causes a decrease in the efficiency of intestinal calcium absorption that results in a transient decline in the serum ionized calcium concentration. This decline is instantly recognized by the calcium sensor in the parathyroid glands resulting in signal transduction to enhance the expression, production and secretion of parathyroid hormone [8]. PTH increases tubular reabsorption of calcium in the kidneys and stimulates the kidneys to produce $1,25(OH)_2D$ which in turn travels to the small intestine to interact with the vitamin D receptor (VDR) to enhance intestinal calcium absorption. PTH and $1,25(OH)_2D$ also travel to the skeleton to interact with osteoblasts to increase the expression of the receptor activator of

NFkB (RANK) ligand (RANKL), RANKL interacts with RANK on monocytes inducing them to become mature osteoclasts [1]. Osteoclasts release collagenases to destroy the matrix and HCl to dissolve the calcium hydroxyapatite releasing precious calcium into the circulation. This process results in a decrease in bone mass that can precipitate and exacerbate osteopenia (low bone mass) and osteoporosis in both children and adults. PTH also causes a decrease in phosphate reabsorption in the kidneys causing a lowering of the blood phosphorus level. This subtle effect results in an inadequate calcium X phosphorus product in the extracellular space causing a mineralization defect of newly laid down collagen matrix. In infants and young children there is also a disruption in chondrocyte maturation leading to a widening of the epiphyseal plates which is not seen in adults. Because infants and young children have very little mineral in their skeleton, as they begin to stand and walk the force of gravity on the standing infant results in the inward or outward bowing of the legs. In addition muscle tension can cause curvature in the arms. For adults the consequences of vitamin D deficiency on bone health result in a decrease in bone mineral density due to the increased bone resorption by PTH as well as the mineralization defect causing osteomalacia. Both diseases look the same on X-ray and bone densitometry.

Since PTH increases the mobilization of calcium from the skeleton and also causes a mineralization defect of newly produced collagen matrix any significant increase in PTH levels could be used as a surrogate biomarker for detecting vitamin D deficiency. Before 1998 it had been accepted based on the determination of a normal range, i.e. mean \pm SD of a healthy group of children and adults that the normal range for 25(OH)D was 10–55 ng/mL. However it was demonstrated that healthy adults who received 50,000 IU of vitamin D2 once a week for 8 weeks along with calcium supplementation and who had a blood level of 25(OH)D of between 11 and 19 ng/mL had on average a 35% decrease in their PTH level [9]. As a result vitamin D deficiency was redefined as a blood level of 25(OH)D < 20 ng/mL.

Using this new definition for vitamin D deficiency it was quickly realized that many more children and adults were vitamin D deficient than previously thought. This observation begged the question if the normal range for 25(OH)D was in error then so too must be the normal range for PTH which by most reference laboratories is still 15–80 pg/mL. It has been suggested that the upper limit for PTH, when determined in a population that has a 25(OH)D of at least 20 ng/mL, should be 40–50 pg/mL [10–12].

There have been several studies reporting on the blood levels of 25(OH)D in relationship to PTH levels. Most [13-15] but not all studies have suggested that PTH levels begin to plateau when the circulating levels of 25(OH)D are between 30 and 40 ng/mL [16]. In a study of over 1500 postmenopausal women there was a statistically significant decline in PTH levels until the serum level of 25(OH)D was greater than 30 ng/mL [15]. In fact using the upper limit of normal for PTH of 40 pg/mL (normal range 6-40 pg/mL) this study reported that women who had a blood level of 25(OH)D of 20 ng/mL had a 2-fold higher risk of having secondary hyperparathyroidism compared to women who had a blood level of 25(OH)D > 30 ng/mL.

The mineralization defect caused by vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency can be very subtle and often only determined by bone histology. Clinical manifestations of osteomalacia in adults include nonspecific throbbing aching bone pain and muscle weakness and muscle discomfort [17–19]. Priemel et al. [20] reported the presence of osteomalacia from bone biopsies of 675 otherwise presumed healthy adults, ages 20-70 years, in Germany who died prematurely due to an accident, often from a motor vehicle accident, and related these biopsy results with their serum level of 25(OH)D. Although there is no uniformly accepted osteoid volume cut-off for the histologic diagnosis of osteomalacia, the authors reported using a conservative threshold > 2% osteoid volume/bone volume (OV/BV) for the diagnosis of osteomalacia, that over 25% of these otherwise presumed healthy adults had evidence of osteomalacia. Furthermore more than 36% had evidence of osteoidosis, i.e. unmineralized matrix within mineralized bone (this is presumed due to intermittent vitamin D deficiency likely in the winter). The authors concluded that since they did not observe any evidence of osteomalacia or osteoidosis in bone biopsies from adults who had a serum 25(OH)D > 30 ng/mL, to maximize bone health in adults a blood level of 25(OH)D > 30 ng/mL should be sustained throughout the year. There is no reason to believe that infants and children would not also benefit by maintaining a blood level of 25(OH)D > 30 ng/mL.

The upper range of normal for 25(OH)D in the 1990s by some reference laboratories was reported as 55 ng/mL. However this upper limit of normal varied depending on latitude and season which of course made no sense. A review of the literature has suggested that patients with classic biochemical abnormalities for vitamin D intoxication, i.e. hypercalcemia and hyperphosphatemia, are only seen when blood levels of the circulating levels of 25(OH)D > 200 ng/mL [21–23]. The only exception is in patients with granulomatous disorders who have a hypersensitivity to vitamin D because of the exuberant production of $1,25(OH)_2D$ by the macrophages within the granuloma that is released into the circulation [4]. As a result the upper limit by most reference laboratories is reported as a 25(OH)D of 100 ng/mL.

The Institute of Medicine (IOM) used a population model for its recommendations to satisfy 97.5% of the population for adequate 25(OH)D for maximum bone health. They conducted a thorough review of the literature and made its recommendation defining vitamin D deficiency for bone health as a 25(OH)D > 20 ng/mL. They unfortunately erroneously concluded from the Priemel et al.'s [20] study that 99% of the 675 accident victims had no evidence of osteomalacia when they had a blood level of 25(OH)D > 20 ng/mL. In fact the authors reported that 21% of otherwise healthy German adult men and women with a 25(OH)D of 21-29 ng/mL had evidence of osteomalacia or osteoidosis. The IOM also dismissed studies relating 25(OH)D levels with the plateauing of PTH because of significant scattering of the data in some of the studies and instead relied on the provocative study of Malabanan et al. [9]. who reported that PTH levels did not decrease in healthy adults who received calcium and vitamin D supplementation and who had a blood level of 25(OH)D > 20 ng/mL. The IOM also recommended that the upper limits (ULs) should be 1000 IU and 1500 IU of vitamin D for infants 0-6 months and 6-12 months respectively. For children 1-3 years and 4–8 years ULs of 2500 IU and 3000 IU per day were recommended and for children 9 years and older and all adults the UL was set at 4000 IU of vitamin D daily.

The Endocrine Society which used a medical model for their recommendations, i.e. to treat and prevent vitamin D deficiency, also concluded that vitamin D deficiency should be defined as 25(OH) D < 20 ng/mL. However based on the Priemel et al.'s [20], studies relating serum 25(OH)D with PTH levels as well as other evidence for reducing risk of fracture [24,25], improving muscle strength [25,26] and some chronic diseases not associated with calcium metabolism [4,5,27], vitamin D insufficiency be used as a term and defined as 25(OH)D of 21-29 ng/mL and therefore vitamin D sufficiency was defined as 25(OH)D > 29 ng/mL with a preferred range 40-60 ng/mL [4,5]. Both the IOM and the Endocrine Society concluded that the

upper limit of 25(OH)D at 100 ng/mL was safe and would not cause vitamin D intoxication [2,4].

The IOM concluded that to prevent vitamin D deficiency, i.e. 25(OH) D < 20 ng/mL, children 0–1 year require 400 IU of vitamin D whereas all other children and adults up to the age of 70 years required 600 IU of vitamin D daily. For adults over the age of 70 years the recommendation was 800 IU of vitamin D daily. The Endocrine Society whose goal was to make recommendations to prevent and treat vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency recommended that instead of giving an exact amount, which is unrealistic in a clinical practice, a range was more reasonable. For children 0-1 year the recommendation was 400-1000 IU vitamin D daily. For children one year and older and all adults the recommendations were 600-1000 IU and 1500-2000 IU of vitamin D daily respectively [4]. Both the IOM and the Endocrine Society recommended that either vitamin D₂ or vitamin D₃ could be used since it was concluded that they have the same ability to raise and maintain circulating levels of 25(OH)D [2,4,28]. However, Heaney and colleagues pointed on vitamin D₃ as more potent compared to vitamin D₂ in humans [29]. Further, the Endocrine Society also recognized that because body fat can store and sequester vitamin D, obese children and adults may require as much as 2-3 times the recommended amount of vitamin D to both treat and prevent recurrent vitamin D deficiency compared to normal weight child and adult [4].

There is an additional variable that has added to the confusion as to what blood level of 25(OH)D should be attained in order to satisfy the body's requirement for vitamin D for skeletal health, i.e. the wide variability in assay methodologies for the 25(OH)D assay. Several studies have reported that even using the same assay by different laboratories resulted in different results [5,30,31]. A majority of assays use some form of antibody technology whereas the Center for Disease Control in the United States and several reference laboratories and research laboratories use liquid chromatography tandem mass spectroscopy which unlike the antibody assays can measure individually $25(OH)D_2$ and $25(OH)D_3$. Many of the antibody assays often have difficulty in recognizing $25(OH)D_2$ with equal efficiency as it does for $25(OH)D_3$ making them less valuable for determining the vitamin D status of the patients who are being treated with vitamin D_2 .

3. Vitamin D and musculoskeletal system

The most widely known vitamin D actions are related to intestinal calcium absorption, serum calcium and phosphate homeostasis, and bone formation/resorption processes. Vitamin D deficiency induces defects of bone mineralization leading to clinical manifestations such as rickets in children and osteomalacia in adults. Vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency coincide with osteoporosis, a disorder characterized by low bone mineral density (BMD) and increased risk of fracture resulting in the majority of cases from impaired muscular function leading to falls.

The biological inter-relationship between bone and muscle tissues was proposed long ago [32]. It was postulated that bone strength is modeled by muscle contractions in a way to achieve a degree of biomechanical homeostasis avoiding the spontaneous fracture incidents [33]. It was postulated that the increases in muscle force drive the increase in bone strength reflecting the functional adaptation of bone to its function [34]. The functional relation between bone and muscle tissues seems to be strongly modulated by hormones, including GH-IGF-I axis, sex hormones and vitamin D. If muscle mass (force) is decreased, the decreased bone mass/BMD is expected because a decreased rate of muscle loading is applied on bone. If such a functional loop exists, increased risk of fracture could be, at least in part, a consequence of sarcopenia, a condition associated with gait and balance problems, and muscle weakness [35]. These functional impairments increase the tendency to fall, which, together with reduced bone mass and BMD and skeletal frailty, comprise the main risk factors for fracture [36].

Several randomized controlled trials (RCTs) and meta-analyses of RCTs investigated associations between vitamin D status and vitamin D supplementation with muscle function, physical performance, risk of falls and risk of fracture. A recent meta-analysis of RCTs evaluating vitamin D supplementation effects on muscles identified 16 RCTs that included 35,283 subjects [37]. Among them 15 RCTs were focused on adults aged 50 years and older and one RCT was performed in girls aged 10-17 years from Lebanon. The vitamin D doses as well as the duration of intervention varied widely. In 11 RCTs vitamin D₃ was administrated orally in average doses of 400-3700 IU/day given monthly, weekly or daily. In the remaining 5 RCTs vitamin D₂ has been given in a single intramuscular injection (up to 600,000 IU) or orally (up to single oral dose of 300,000 IU). Almost all RCTs, except one [38], showed a significant increase of 25(OH)D level after vitamin D supplementation compared to controls. Beneficial effects of vitamin D on muscle strength, body sway or physical performance were revealed only in seven of 16 studies. Although, positive effects on muscle were not consistently evidenced, as the vitamin D effects on muscle function were secondary endpoints, still, improved muscle strength [39-41], improved timed up-and-go test [41,42], improved the compiled measures of physical abilities [43,44], improved postural stability [41,42,44,45], or an increased 12-minute gait speed [42] was documented after vitamin D administration, Furthermore, an RCT performed in girls from Lebanon showed significantly higher muscle mass accrual (but not higher grip strength), after one year of vitamin D treatment compared to placebo treated counterparts, as estimated by lean body mass measures using dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA) [46]. Nonetheless, because of the discrepant effects of vitamin D on muscles in RCT setting, likely due to heterogeneity in most aspects of these studies (vitamin D dose, duration of treatment, different methods used for the evaluation of muscle strength/function/performance, etc.), drawing of a definite conclusion is difficult in light that more RCTs showed no effects. Indisputably, vitamin D has a direct effect on muscle cells through vitamin D receptor (VDR) in cell nuclei and a spectrum of indirect effects that all affect muscle tissue metabolism in a state of vitamin D deficiency. The same relates to bone tissue and its cells. It seems therefore, that vitamin D has a dual effect for musculoskeletal system: on bone mass/density/quality and on muscle mass/ strength/function. In addition, adequate vitamin D status reduces the risk of falling in older individuals, most likely by improving neuromuscular functions.

To determine anti-falling efficacy of vitamin D supplementation in individuals 65 years and older, Bischoff-Ferrari and colleagues [24] did a meta-analysis including 8 double-blind RCTs that included 2426 subjects. Vitamin D2 or D3 was given in a daily dose ranging from 200 IU to 1000 IU. Treatment duration varied from 2 months to 36 months. A 13% reduction of risk of falling was demonstrated in vitamin D supplemented individuals compared with those receiving calcium or placebo. Again, a significant heterogeneity by dose and achieved 25(OH)D levels was observed. Supplementation in doses 700-1000 IU/day reduced the relative risk of falls by 19%, whereas supplementation with doses lower than 700 IU/day was not significant for the risk of fall. Moreover, at least 24 ng/mL (60 nmol/L) of 25(OH)D had to be achieved by subjects to significantly reduce a risk of falls (by 23%) and no effect on reduction of falling was revealed for 25(OH)D levels lower than 24 ng/mL (60 nmol/L). The aforementioned meta-analysis revealed that vitamin D doses of 700-1000 IU/day reduced falls by 19% or by up to 26% with vitamin D₃. The benefit might not depend on additional calcium supplementation, was significant within 2-5 months of treatment, and extended beyond 12 months of treatment [24].

The anti-fracture efficacy of oral vitamin D supplementation was documented mainly in elderly. In a 2009 year Bischoff-Ferrari and colleagues [26] published results of a meta-analysis of 12 double-blind RCTs for non-vertebral fractures including 42,279 subjects and 8 RCTs for hip fractures including 40,886 subjects. The pooled relative risk

(RR) was 0.86 (95% CI, 0.77–0.96) for the prevention of non-vertebral fractures and 0.91 (95% CI, 0.78-1.05) for the prevention of hip fractures. However, when trials using doses of 482-770 IU/day of vitamin D were considered (31,872 subjects), the risks for non-vertebral fractures and hip fractures were reduced by 20% and by 18%, respectively. It appeared that vitamin D doses of 400 IU/day and lower did not show any effect and fracture reduction [26]. However, some other studies, including meta-analyses, suggested that vitamin D may have no effect on total fractures [47] or may reduce hip fracture by 7 to 16%, if combined with calcium supplementation, regardless of the dose of vitamin D [48]. To address these discrepancies a pooled participant-level data from 11 RCTs of oral vitamin D supplementation (daily, weekly, or every 4 months), with or without calcium, as compared with placebo or calcium alone in persons 65 years and older was analyzed and published [49]. The analysis was designed to estimate the effects of vitamin D supplementation according to the actual intake of each participant, not the dose to which the participant was randomly assigned. The 31,022 subjects from 11 studies were included. Among 4383 participants with baseline measures of 25(OH)D level, 88% revealed levels lower than 30 ng/mL (75 nmol/L). It was shown that vitamin D supplementation in actual doses lower than 792 IU/day is not effective in fracture risk reduction. Both hip fracture risk and non-vertebral fracture risk were reduced respectively by 30% and 14% in subjects with actual intake level of 792-2000 IU/day. Further, subjects with baseline serum 25(OH)D levels of at least 24.4 ng/mL (61 nmol/L), compared to those showing less than 12 ng/mL (30 nmol/L), had a risk of hip fracture that was reduced by 37% and a risk of any nonvertebral fracture that was reduced by 31%. Consequently, at least 800 IU/day of vitamin D together with 25(OH)D serum level higher than 24 ng/mL (60 nmol/L) was highlighted as effective in fracture prevention.

Although RCT- based effects of vitamin D supplementation on specific muscle functions were not consistently supported, anti-fall and anti-fracture action of vitamin D administration of at least 800 IU/day with at least 24 ng/mL (60 nmol/L) of 25(OH)D serum levels appeared as beneficial for musculoskeletal machinery.

4. Vitamin D and immunity

Along the many important cells and tissues in which the vitamin D receptor (VDR) was found are the immune system agents: lymphocytes, monocytes and dendritic cells; therefore, the next step emerging, especially during the last decade, was to elucidate the role of vitamin D as a positive immunomodulator on the immune system. The impact of vitamin D deficiency in the pathogenesis of immunomediated diseases and the significant role of pharmacological doses of vitamin D in autoimmune diseases have been highlighted. So far, more than 30 positive effects of vitamin D on the immune system have been reported [50–54].

The close relationship with the production of the active metabolite of vitamin D upon exposure to UVB radiation has been well known for years. For instance, in the olden days, patients with tuberculosis were sent to a sanatorium to benefit from the exposure to the sun in combating the Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Only recently the beneficial effect of vitamin D on macrophages in phagocytizing the M. tuberculosis was detailed in RCT of either a single oral dose of 2.5 mg ergocalciferol or lactose placebo [55]. Vitamin D has roles in the maturation of macrophages, including the production of macrophage-specific surface antigens and the secretion of the lysosomal enzyme acid phosphatase and hydrogen peroxide. These features of antimicrobial function are impaired in the setting of vitamin D deficiency [1,56-58]. Thus, vitamin D has an important role in increasing the effects of innate immune processes while restraining the adaptive immune system, leading to improved outcomes in autoimmune diseases and possibly lowering risk of autoimmune disease [1,50].

Vitamin D has a part in shaping immune response by T and B cells. For instance, the number of vitamin D receptors on CD4+ T cells correlates with the degree of cell activation [59]. The addition of 1,25(OH)₂D₃ to CD4+ T cells inhibits the proliferation of T-helper-1 cells and cytokine production [60]. Furthermore, suppression of T-helper-1 cytokines, such as interleukin (IL)-2, IL-12 and interferon γ , and increased production of T-helper-2 cytokines, such as IL-5 and IL-10, has been noted, suggesting that T-helper-2 cells are more dominant than T-helper-1 cells [60–62].

Vitamin D also modulates the responses of T-helper-17 cells, which are seminal to autoimmune reactions [63–66]. A nonhypercalcemic vitamin-D-receptor agonist, elocalcitol, was shown to decrease T-helper-1-type and T-helper-17-type cytokine secretion and to promote T-helper-2-type cytokine expression [67]. Interestingly, in 25-hydroxyvitamin D-1α-hydroxylase knockout mice, increased weight loss and colitis were associated with raised levels of IL-1 in the distal colon and of IL-17 in the proximal and distal colon [68]. This apparent relation suggests that similar effects might occur with vitamin D deficiency. Another study has shown that 1,25(OH)₂D₃ increases the suppressive capacity of CD4+CD25+ immunoregulatory cells that originated from mouse draining lymph nodes [69]. CD4+ cells from the draining lymph nodes in the skin of mice treated with either 1,25(OH)₂D₃ or UVB radiation had reduced capacity to proliferate to antigens presented in vitro, and these cells suppressed antigen-specific immune responses upon adoptive transfer into untreated mice. Autoantibody production was also suppressed by 1,25(OH)₂D₃ [70].

The generation of bone marrow dendritic cells is not impaired by the elevated levels of $1,25(OH)_2D_3$, but maturation is slowed [71]. In vitro, $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ inhibits IL-12 secretion and differentiation of monocytes into dendritic cells, and it hinders the stimulatory effects that T cells have on their activity [71,72]. While $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ stimulates phagocytosis and the killing of bacteria by macrophages, it suppresses the antigen-presenting capacity of these cells, presenting dichotomic responses towards the innate and adoptive arms of the immune system [73]. Furthermore, $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ induces monocytic differentiation to macrophages and decreases the release of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines by these cells [74].

A review of the ways vitamin D supports the immune system is given in Lang et al. [75]. The role of the induction of cathelicidin and defensins in the innate immune response is discussed among other topics.

Given this understanding of the mechanisms whereby vitamin D reduces the risk of infection, it is worthwhile to look at some of the evidence that vitamin D reduces the risk of infectious diseases. There are several bacterial infections that vitamin D protects against besides tuberculosis. One that has been studied many years is the prevention of dental caries due to the action of oral bacteria. Studies in the 1930s–1950s found that young people living in sunnier locations in the United States had fewer dental caries than those living in less sunny locations [76]. A recent review of randomized controlled trials of vitamin D reported that vitamin D reduced the risk of dental caries by about 50% [76].

The effect of vitamin D in reducing risk of acute respiratory infections has been the focus of several recent studies. A study in Connecticut found levels "of 38 ng/mL or more were associated with a significant (p < 0.0001) two-fold reduction in the risk of developing acute respiratory tract infections and with a marked reduction in the percentages of days ill." [77].

In a supplementation study in Sweden involving 140 patients with frequent respiratory tract infections (RTIs) using 4000 IU/day vitamin D3, those on the supplementation arm increased their serum 25(OH)D level to 53 ng/mL while those in the placebo arm had 25(OH)D levels of 27 ng/mL [78]. Those taking vitamin D3 had a 23% (95% CI, 1–40%) reduction in RTIs and a 50% reduction in the number of days using antibiotics. There is mounting evidence that vitamin D reduces the risk of sepsis [79].

While the effects of vitamin D have been found mostly for bacterial infections, some have also been reported for viral infections such as influenza, HIV, and hepatitis C [75]. There is also strong evidence that vitamin D helps protect against the autoimmune disease, multiple sclerosis. Epstein Barr virus is an important risk factor for this disease. A recent paper presented the hypothesis that CD8 + T cell deficiency contributed along with the other factors [80].

Thus it seems that vitamin D may be instrumental in the immune system homeostasis, and in preventing autoimmune diseases [81–84] and lowering risk of infections [75–79]. The routine prescription of vitamin D in these conditions is highly recommended [85].

5. Vitamin D and cardiovascular disease

The cardiovascular system is a target tissue for vitamin D since VDRs as well as vitamin D metabolizing enzymes are expressed in arterial vessels, heart and almost all cells and tissues with relevance for the pathogenesis of cardiovascular diseases [86,87]. Associations of cardiovascular diseases and its risk factors with season and latitude lead to the hypothesis that vitamin D deficiency might be a causal cardiovascular risk factor [86,88]. Subsequent experimental animal and cell culture studies demonstrated a variety of effects by which VDR activation exerts cardiovascular protective actions: e.g. anti-atherosclerotic effects, renin suppression or prevention of myocardial damage [86,87,89,90]. While these data strongly support that VDR activation may protect against cardiovascular diseases, the question arises whether the vitamin D effects observed in vitro are of relevance in vivo, i.e. in the clinical setting. Systematic reviews and meta-analyses of observational studies confirm that low levels of 25(OH)D are associated with cardiovascular risk factors (e.g. diabetes mellitus, dyslipidemia and arterial hypertension) and predict cardiovascular events including strokes [87,90–94].

In a meta-analysis including 65,994 participants and 6123 cardiovascular disease cases, the risk of cardiovascular events significantly increased with decreasing 25(OH)D levels below 24 ng/mL (60 nmol/L) [92]. A major problem with the interpretation of these findings is that vitamin D deficiency is closely associated with obesity and physical (outdoor) activities [87,95]. Hence, it is challenging to clarify whether vitamin D deficiency is the cause or only the consequence of cardiovascular diseases. It must however be underlined that the majority of the existing literature shows that vitamin D deficient individuals are at increased cardiovascular risk even after adjustments for common cardiovascular risk factors [87,90–94]. Data from randomized controlled trials (RCTs) on vitamin D supplementation and cardiovascular risk are however relatively sparse and less clear [87,90]. RCTs on vitamin D effects on cardiovascular risk factors produced mixed results and we can at present not draw final conclusions regarding this. While a few RCTs showed beneficial effects of vitamin D supplementation on glucose metabolism, the majority of the studies did not report significant results [87,90,96].

For arterial hypertension, meta-analyses of RCTs have shown either no or some slight, yet statistically significant, reductions in systolic blood pressure [87,90]. Further RCTs are therefore needed and it should be considered that according to recent studies, potential cardiovascular benefits of vitamin D supplementation (e.g. antihypertensive effects) seem to be restricted to patients with both low 25(OH)D levels and at a certain cardiovascular risk (e.g. arterial hypertension) [87,97].

Regarding cardiovascular events there are no vitamin D RCTs published that were specifically designed to address this issue [87,90]. Data from RCTs reporting on cardiovascular events as secondary outcomes did not show any significant vitamin D effect, but there exists a wide consensus that these RCTs had several limitations (e.g. low vitamin D doses, poor compliance or concomitant calcium supplementation) so that further RCTs are definitely needed to clarify whether vitamin D can reduce the incidence of cardiovascular diseases [87,90]. Some large RCTs on vitamin D supplementation and cardiovascular risk are currently ongoing and their results can be expected in the years 2017 to 2020 [98,99].

6. Vitamin D and cancer

There have been several papers reporting results of randomized controlled trials (RCTs) of vitamin D or vitamin D plus calcium on risk of cancer incidence [100-105]. The Women's Health Initiative (WHI) used 400 IU/day vitamin D₃ plus 1500 mg/day calcium and did not find statistically significant benefits in general [101,104]. The reasons for the failure of the WHI to find beneficial effects of vitamin D include the low dose of vitamin D₃, poor compliance, estimated at 70%, and failure to measure for serum 25(OH)D level after supplementation and control for other sources of vitamin D.

On the other hand, an analysis of the subset of participants in the WHI study who had not taken personal vitamin D or calcium supplements prior to enrolling in the study found for total cancer, hazard ratio (HR) = 0.86 [95% confidence interval, 0.78–0.96], p = 0.007; total breast cancer, HR = 0.82 (0.70–0.97), p = 0.02; and invasive breast cancer, HR = 0.80 (0.66–0.96), p = 0.02 [103]. There were no statistically significant findings for women who were taking personal calcium or vitamin D prior to enrolling in the study.

Another RCT using 1100 IU/day vitamin D_3 and 1450 mg/day calcium was conducted on post-menopausal women living in Nebraska [102]. It found a relative risk (RR) for all-cancer incidence = 0.40 (95% confidence interval, 0.20–0.82), p=0.01 for those taking vitamin D plus calcium, and 0.53 (0.27–1.03), p=0.06 for those taking only calcium. The effect of vitamin D alone is likely the ratio of the two RRs, which is 0.75. A second analysis for all-cancer incidence between the ends of the first and fourth years significantly reduced risk: RR = 0.23 (0.09–0.60), p < 0.005, and for those taking only calcium, RR 0.59 (0.21–1.21), p=0.15. The ratio of these two RRs is 0.39. Serum 25(OH)D levels changed from 29 ng/mL at baseline to 38 ng/mL at the end of the first year for those taking vitamin D, with no change for those taking calcium. The primary problem with this study was that there were only 50 cancer cases during the four years and 35 after the first year.

The results from the aforementioned two RCTs can be compared to the odds ratio for breast cancer incidence vs. serum 25(OH)D level derived from five case-control studies in which serum 25(OH) D level was determined near the time of cancer diagnosis [106,107]. For those not taking personal calcium or vitamin D prior to enrolling in the WHI, it can be assumed that the serum 25(OH)D level at time of enrollment was at the dividing line between the lowest two quartiles, 12.4 ng/mL, and that compliance was 70%, resulting in 280 IU/day vitamin D₃ intake. Based on data showing changes in serum 25(OH)D level from oral vitamin D intake vs. initial serum 25(OH)D level in study by Garland and colleagues [108], this corresponds to an increase of serum 25(OH)D level of 3.1 ng/mL. Using the breast cancer incidence vs. serum 25(OH)D level relation from case-control studies given in [106,107] this corresponds to a 16% reduction in breast cancer incidence that is close to the values reported by Bolland and colleagues [103].

Doing a similar analysis for the Lappe et al.'s [102] study based on the changes in serum 25(OH)D level finds an estimate from the breast cancer graph in Grant [107,108] of 18%. This value compares well to the 25% reduced risk for the full four-year study, but not to the result omitting the first year, 61%.

While some researchers have cautioned that serum 25(OH)D levels measured near the time of cancer diagnosis could be affected by the disease state (reverse causality), graphs of risk with respect to follow-up time find linear relations for breast, colorectal and prostate cancer [106] and all-cause mortality rate [109]. In addition, there does not seem to be evidence that the existence of cancer affects serum 25(OH)D level.

Most of the evidence that vitamin D reduces the risk of cancer comes from ecological, observational, and laboratory studies [107]. The ecological studies are based on geographical variations of cancer incidence and/or mortality rate with respect to indices for solar UVB

doses. The single-country studies are quite consistent for a number of countries, and no factor other than vitamin D production has been proposed to explain the UVB-cancer link. The observational studies show significant inverse correlations between serum 25(OH)D level and incidence rates for case-control studies for breast cancer and both case-control and cohort studies for colon cancer [106]. Breast cancer can develop so rapidly that for long follow-up times, the 25(OH)D level at time of enrollment is not a good index.

Most vitamin D-cancer RCTs to date were not well designed and conducted [110]. The guidelines for proper vitamin D RCTs were outlined in a recent paper by Lappe and Heaney [111]. Perhaps the most important guideline is that the design of the study should start with an estimated serum 25(OH)D level-health outcome relation. Such relationships can be derived from observational studies [107,108]. However, care should be taken to assess the effect of follow-up time after blood draw on health outcome since the longer the follow-up period, the lower will be the observed beneficial effect as shown for breast and colorectal cancer [106] and all-cause mortality rate [109]. Next is to enroll people in the study with serum 25(OH)D levels near where the beneficial effect begins to rise. Next, the vitamin D dose should be large enough to raise serum 25(OH)D levels to near where beneficial effects no longer increase rapidly. Next, serum 25(OH)D levels should be measured perhaps a year after the study begins. Doing so finds the change in 25(OH)D level as well as identifies those who are not compliant with the study protocol. It also permits some control over other sources of vitamin D. It would also be useful to examine vitamin D without calcium. Since vitamin D RCTs are expensive and research funds are limited, many ongoing and proposed studies are not able to incorporate all of the guidelines. Thus, it may be a number of years until RCTs demonstrate that vitamin D reduces the risk of cancer to the satisfaction of health policy makers who rely on "evidence-based medicine" [112].

7. Vitamin D and mortality

Large epidemiological studies have by the majority shown that individuals with low 25(OH)D levels are at significantly increased risk of mortality [87,113-116]. This has been underscored by the meta-analyses of studies in general populations and in patients with chronic kidney diseases [113,114]. Studies in specific populations such as nursing home residents or patients with liver diseases confirmed that low 25(OH)D levels indicate an increased mortality risk [115,116]. Regarding detailed data on optimal 25(OH)D levels, it has been shown in the general population that the relationship between 25(OH)D and mortality seems to be non-linear with the lowest mortality risk at 25(OH)D levels ranging from 30 to 35 ng/mL (75 to 87.5 nmol/L) [113]. Mortality risk shows a steep increase at very low 25(OH)D levels, but it should also be considered that some study results suggest a U-shaped relationship of 25(OH)D and mortality [87,113]. In this context, it must also be stressed that in a large meta-analysis there was no significantly increased mortality risk with 25(OH)D levels up to 45 ng/mL (112.5 nmol/L) [113]. Higher 25(OH) D levels are not proven to be harmful but are just of largely unknown clinical significance with regard to mortality [113]. In line with these observational studies, it has been shown in the meta-analyses of RCTs that vitamin D3 treatment was associated with reduced mortality [117,118]. In detail, a Cochrane meta-analysis including 74,789 individuals showed that vitamin D3 reduces mortality by 6%, corresponding to 161 individuals treated with vitamin D3 to save one additional life [117]. Similar results were reported by a further individual patient level meta-analysis [118]. These results were mainly derived from elderly women. It should also be considered that vitamin D was frequently given with calcium supplementation, which raises some still unresolved questions on the separate or joint effects of vitamin D and calcium [117,118]. In a meta-analysis of vitamin D or vitamin D plus calcium, a significantly reduced risk of all-cause mortality rate was found for vitamin D plus calcium [odds ratio = 0.95 (0.91–1.00)] but not for vitamin D alone [odds ratio = 0.98 (0.91–1.06)] [118]. The amount of vitamin D used in the trials in general may have been too low for optimal results. Thus, it is reasonable to expect that RCTs including both vitamin D and calcium would represent the effects of each compound independently. However, there could also be some synergism, such as calcium intake possibly affecting serum 25(OH)D levels [119]. Calcium has been found associated with the reduced risk of cancer in many observational studies such as those related to mineral-rich (hard) water [120].

While it will therefore be a challenge for future research to identify the optimal way of vitamin D treatment, it must also be emphasized that a mortality reduction evidenced by meta-analyses of RCTs is usually a striking argument for a widespread clinical use of such a treatment.

8. Vitamin D and fertility

There are several lines of evidence suggesting an important role of vitamin D in human fertility. The vitamin D receptor (VDR) is distributed across various human tissues including ovaries, endometrium, placenta, testis, spermatozoa and the pituitary gland suggesting an active role of vitamin D in those tissues. Further, data from animal studies suggest an important role of vitamin D in female and male fertility (reviewed in [121]).

In women, most studies focussed on the possible association of vitamin D with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) and with in vitro fertilization (IVF) success. There is accumulating evidence from cross-sectional studies suggesting that vitamin D deficiency might be involved in the pathogenesis of insulin resistance and the metabolic syndrome in PCOS [121,122], whether vitamin D is also related to endocrine parameters and fertility in PCOS is less clear. The evidence on the effects of vitamin D supplementation in PCOS women is sparse. There are, however, some small intervention trials showing promising results. In a small-scale intervention study including 13 premenopausal women with chronic anovulation and hyperandrogenism, vitamin D repletion with 50,000 IU ergocalciferol weekly or biweekly combined with calcium administration of 1500 mg calcium daily resulted in the normalization of menstrual cycles in 7 women and 2 became pregnant [123]. Another study in 12 overweight and vitamin D deficient PCOS women showed reductions in total testosterone and androstenedione levels following 3-month supplementation with a daily dose of 3533 IU (increased to 8533 IU after the first five participants) and 530 mg calcium daily [124]. In contrast, in a pilot study among 13 obese women with PCOS, the administration of the single dose of 300,000 IU of vitamin D3 orally did not significantly change BMI or the levels of DHEAS, total testosterone, free testosterone, and androstenedione levels but had a beneficial impact on insulin resistance assessed by HOMA-index [125]. Similarly, in a small study including 15 obese PCOS women treated with 1 µg alphacalcidol daily over 3 months, vitamin D treatment improved insulin secretion and had a beneficial effect on lipid status [126]. Another study including 57 women who received 50,000 IU vitamin D3 weekly over 24 weeks, vitamin D supplementation resulted in improved glucose metabolism as well in an improvement of menstrual frequency [127]. To date there is no RCT to evaluate the effects of vitamin D treatment on endocrine and metabolic parameters in PCOS women. Considering the association of vitamin D deficiency with insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes in PCOS as well as in other cohorts, further research including large RCTs is highly warranted in this high risk cohort.

Studies investigating the association of vitamin D status with IVF outcome revealed inconsistent results. A recent study in 91 anovulatory, infertile women with PCOS who underwent clomiphene citrate stimulation suggests that vitamin D deficiency (<10 ng/mL) is an independent predictive parameter of clomiphene citrate stimulation outcome,

in terms of follicle development and pregnancy [128]. In a study among 84 infertile women undergoing IVF, women with higher levels of 25(OH)D in serum and follicular fluid were significantly more likely to achieve clinical pregnancy following IVF [129]. Another study in 101 women reported that women with a sufficient vitamin D status (25(OH)D > 30 ng/mL in follicular fluid) had a lower quality of embryos and were less likely to achieve clinical pregnancy when compared to women with lower vitamin D levels [130]. To date, there is no intervention trial investigating the effect of vitamin D supplementation in women undergoing IVF and present data are insufficient to accurately evaluate the effects of vitamin D in women undergoing IVF.

There is ample evidence showing that calcium is important in the male reproductive tract, where it is essential for spermatogenesis, sperm motility, hyperactivation and acrosome reaction [131]. However, the role of vitamin D, which is known as an important regulator of calcium metabolism, in semen quality and spermatogenesis is less clear and was the focus of several studies conducted in the last years. A study in 300 men from the general population suggests that men with vitamin D deficiency (<10 ng/mL) had a lower proportion of motile, progressive motile and morphologically normal spermatozoa compared with men with sufficient vitamin D status (>30 ng/mL) [132]. Further, 1,25(OH)₂D₃ increased intracellular calcium concentration in human spermatozoa in vitro through VDR-mediated calcium release from an intracellular calcium storage, increased sperm motility and induced the acrosome reaction in vitro [132]. In contrast, another study investigating the association of vitamin D status with semen quality in 307 young healthy men found a trend towards an association of high vitamin D levels with lower total sperm count and percentage of normal morphology sperm [133]. However, those trends totally disappeared in the multivariate model. Besides those observational studies, to date there are no data from randomized controlled trials investigating the effects of vitamin D treatment on semen quality. However, the discovery that 1,25(OH)₂D₃ influences sperm function may be useful for the development of novel therapeutic approaches to the treatment of male reproductive disorders.

Low levels of vitamin D and androgens are both associated with increased mortality in men [134,135].

Recent data from the LURIC study including 2069 men referred for coronary angiography suggest that the coexistence of vitamin D and testosterone deficiency in men is associated with particularly adverse consequences for cardiovascular health [136]. While the presence of either a vitamin D deficiency or a testosterone deficiency is associated with an approximately 1.5-fold increased risk of death, the simultaneous presence of a deficiency of both hormones is linked with a 2.5-fold increased risk of dying, compared to men with a sufficient vitamin D and testosterone level. Moreover, the low testosterone levels were associated with increased mortality only in men who had a vitamin D deficiency, whereas men with a sufficient vitamin D level did not show any significant correlation between androgen deficiency and increased mortality.

Further data from the LURIC study suggest that, androgen levels and 25(OH)D level were independently associated and revealed a concordant seasonal variation [137]. The relationship between testosterone and vitamin D has recently been confirmed in two additional studies (European Male Aging Study and the Health Professionals Follow-up Study) [138,139]. Moreover, previous data indicate that vitamin D therapy might increase testosterone levels [140]. In men undergoing a weight reduction program who received either 83 µg (3332 IU) vitamin D daily for 1 year (n = 31) or placebo (n = 23), a significant increase in testosterone levels was observed in the vitamin D supplemented group with no significant change in the placebo group. In view of the clinical significance of low testosterone and 25(OH)D levels we want to stress that further studies are needed to investigate the impact of vitamin D supplementation on androgen status in men and to evaluate the effect of testosterone replacement in men with respect to vitamin D status.

9. Vitamin D during pregnancy and early infancy

At no other time during the lifecycle is vitamin D status more important than during pregnancy as the mother is the sole source of vitamin D substrate for her developing fetus. While vitamin D status during pregnancy varies around the globe as a function of maternal sunlight exposure, degree of skin pigmentation, latitude, lifestyle, body mass index (BMI) and the intake of oral vitamin D supplements, it is clear that those with darker pigmentation and limited sunlight exposure are at greatest risk for deficiency [141–146]. What is well established is that if a woman is deficient during her pregnancy, her fetus also will be deficient during gestation [141,147]. Whether such variation in vitamin D status can be associated with worse pregnancy outcomes still remains an open question and is the subject of this section of the paper.

With the exception of pregnancy, vitamin D metabolism is relatively constant throughout life. Yet, during pregnancy, vitamin D metabolism differs substantially, a point that until recently has gone largely unappreciated. Metabolism of vitamin D during pregnancy does not diverge from the nonpregnant state in the conversion of vitamin D to 25(OH)D, following first- and zero-order enzyme kinetics [141,148]. It is with the conversion of 25(OH)D to 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D (1,25(OH)₂D) that differences appear: known for decades that during pregnancy 1,25[OH]₂D levels become extremely elevated [149–151], this increase in circulating 1,25(OH)₂D has been attributed to an increase in the serum vitamin D-binding protein (DBP) that would regulate the amount of "free" 1,25(OH)₂D available in the circulation [150]. Yet, while DBP rises some 46-103% during pregnancy depending on the assay employed [152], it does not account for the nearly three- to fourfold increase in circulating 1,25(OH)₂D noted in a recent study by Hollis et al. [141]. Some insight into this process comes from a classic paper published in 1984 by Bikle et al. [151], who clearly demonstrated that free 1,25(OH)₂D levels are increased during pregnancy despite the significant increase in DBP levels.

Vitamin D metabolism is greatly altered during pregnancy, and pregnancy itself is the primary driver for these extraordinary circulating 1,25(OH)₂D levels. From the Hollis et al.'s data, it is evident that the production of 1,25(OH)₂D is independent of the classic regulators of calcium, phosphorus, and PTH [141]. The dramatic rise in maternal circulating 1,25(OH)₂D level following conception is remarkable for many reasons: by 12 weeks of gestation, maternal circulating 1,25(OH)₂D is already triple those of a nonpregnant female [141,153]. Going forward through gestation, 1,25(OH)₂D continues to rise as a function of substrate-25(OH)D-availability. This substrate dependence of 1,25(OH)₂D on 25(OH)D for optimal production is never observed in normal human physiology driven by classic calcium homeostasis. There is an independence during pregnancy between 1,25(OH)₂D level and calcium metabolism such that the pregnant women in attaining supraphysiologic levels of 1,25(OH)₂D (relative to the nonpregnant state), sometimes exceeding 700 pmol/L [141,153], never exhibit hypercalciuria or hypercalcemia [141]. Additional data from Hollis et al. [141] demonstrated that a circulating 25(OH)D level of approximately 40 ng/mL (100 nmol/L) is required to optimize the production of 1,25(OH)₂D during pregnancy through renal and/or placental production of the hormone [141], a relationship that is also noted in the neonate but at no other time during the lifecycle [141,154].

There are four contending theories of how this occurs during pregnancy [153]: (1) higher placental conversion rates of 25(OH)D to $1,25(OH)_2D$ by placental $1-\alpha$ -hydroxylase; (2) uncoupling of renal $1-\alpha$ -hydroxylase from feedback control and for reasons other than maintaining calcium homeostasis (a distinct possibility as women with nonfunctional renal $1-\alpha$ -hydroxylase and normal placental function fail to increase circulating $1,25(OH)_2D$ during pregnancy [155]); (3) there is methylation of the catabolic CYP24A1 placental gene [156]; and (4) increased calcitonin during pregnancy may be a

contributor to this process in that it rises during pregnancy, is known to stimulate the renal $1-\alpha$ -hydroxylase gene independently of calcium levels, and protects by opposing hypercalcemia [157–159]. Suggested as a possible stimulator of $1-\alpha$ -hydroxylase during pregnancy [160], prolactin is less likely to play a major role in $1,25(OH)_2D$ metabolism during pregnancy as prolactin increases significantly during lactation and yet there is not a perpetuation of the high pregnancy $1,25(OH)_2D$ levels [161]. Clearly, vitamin D metabolism during pregnancy is unique in human physiology; but what is its purpose?

Studies conducted in the 1980's and 1990's found associations between maternal deficiency and abnormal fetal growth, dentition and maternal health, yet the robustness of these findings was held in question as the studies were plagued by small sample sizes and the amount of vitamin D given was often low with few differences noted between women who had received placebo and those who had received treatment-typically 400 IU vitamin D/day [162-166]. Prior studies did not establish the optimal vitamin D requirements and blood levels during pregnancy. In addition, the effects of vitamin D during pregnancy were thought, until recently, to be limited to calcium and bone metabolism and that the daily requirements were met by casual outdoor sunlight exposure and a prenatal vitamin containing 400 IU. This way of thinking has persisted into the 21st century and was reiterated by the Institute of Medicine in their 2010 report [167]. There is evidence, however, that a woman's vitamin D requirements are not 400 IU/day, but rather, 4000 IU/day [141,146]. As discussed earlier, the optimal conversion of 25(OH)D to the active form the hormone-1,25(OH)₂D-is not attained until 25(OH)D level is at least 100 nmol/L (40 ng/mL), most easily achieved with 4000 IU/day dosing [141]. Yet, it is unclear why 1,25(OH)₂D rises more than two and half times nonpregnant levels with virtually no change in calcium levels, although early data suggest a role in maintaining immune homeostasis that is essential during pregnancy for the health of mother and fetus. Various health effects of vitamin D deficiency during pregnancy continue to be reported; notably with increased risk of preeclampsia [168,169], infection [146,170], preterm labor and preterm birth [146], cesarean section [171], and gestational diabetes [172]. What do these seemingly diverse groups of disease states and events have to do with vitamin D? What is the plausible mechanism of action that links them to vitamin D?

The answers to these questions surround vitamin D's non-calcium effects on immune modulation. As discussed earlier in this paper, during the past two decades there has been mounting evidence that vitamin D plays a role not only in calcium metabolism but also in the modulation of both innate and adaptive immunity [173,174]. Differences in immune function on the basis of vitamin D status, however, have not yet been shown; rather, only differences in disease state risks. Specific changes during pregnancy in immune modulation, innate and adaptive function, as they relate to specific disease states are being evaluated now in more recent ongoing trials.

To begin to answer the question of what constitutes vitamin D sufficiency during pregnancy and health-related effects of that sufficiency, two recent randomized clinical trials conducted by Hollis, and Wagner et al. were published [141,146]. The largest was an NICHD-sponsored randomized controlled trial of vitamin D supplementation beginning at 12-16 weeks of gestation where healthy women were randomized to one of three treatment groups-400, 2000, and 4000 IU vitamin D₃/day [141]. In the second clinical trial sponsored by the Thrasher Research Fund, women were randomized at 12-16 weeks of gestation to either 2000 or 4000 IU vitamin D₃/ day [146]. Vitamin D status and health characteristics were recorded for both studies. Both studies showed improved vitamin D status throughout pregnancy and fewer comorbidities of pregnancy in the 4000 IU group [141,146]. When analyzed by 25(OH)D level, improved vitamin D status was associated with better pregnancy outcomes [141,146].

Given that both the NICHD and Thrasher Research Fund studies were conducted concurrently by the same study team using a common data dictionary, the datasets were combined to increase sample size and to collectively address the following questions: (1) what are the potential health effects of vitamin D supplementation during pregnancy, and (2) what are the implications of vitamin D deficiency on the mother and her fetus? These findings recently published were as follows: there were no differences in maternal baseline 25(OH)D, but there were consistent differences in maternal and cord blood 25(OH)D levels achieved with higher rates of sufficiency using various cutpoints in the 4000 IU group and 2000 IU group compared to the control group (p-values generally <0.0001), an effect that persisted even after controlling for race and study. When the four main comorbidities of pregnancy were combined, for every 10 ng/mL increase in maternal 25(OH)D at delivery, the odds ratio was reduced to 0.84 (p = 0.006).

Extending the findings of pregnancy to lactation, it is evident that if 400 IU/day is inadequate in attaining vitamin D sufficiency during pregnancy, then during lactation when a woman is transferring ~20% of her vitamin D daily in her milk, her requirements will be higher than during pregnancy [153]. Two pilot studies by Hollis and Wagner provided evidence that when a mother is replete in vitamin D, her milk is replete and therefore, her recipient infant also will be replete [175,176]. Preliminary findings from a larger, two-site NICHD trial involving more than 300 women from the same group support the earlier findings [177]: women randomized to 6400 IU vitamin D₃/day while their infants received placebo had superior vitamin D status compared to women taking 400 IU/day. Those infants of mothers in the 400 IU group also received 400 IU vitamin D₃/day and their total circulating 25(OH)D levels were similar to the infants in the 6400 IU whose sole source of vitamin D was their mothers. Both groups had similar serum calcium and urinary calcium/creatinine profiles with no increased toxicity in the 6400 IU group as deemed by the Data Safety and Monitoring Committee.

What do these collective studies tell us about vitamin D requirements during pregnancy and lactation? It is clear that higher doses are necessary to recapitulate the action of sunlight and that the doses given up to 4000 IU/day in the pregnant woman and 6400 IU/day in the lactating woman are safe and effective in achieving sufficiency and improving health not only in the mother but also in the developing fetus, and later—in her breastfeeding infant. Public health policies must be enacted to ensure that women are being counseled appropriately regarding options during these important times in the lifecycle.

10. Vitamin D and dementia

Alzheimer's disease and other forms of dementia are debilitating and costly to families and societies, and yet no proven intervention currently exists to prevent, delay or treat dementia. The incidence and prevalence of dementia are strongly age-associated, and as a result the number of people with dementia is projected to increase from 24 million in 2005 to 81 million in 2040 due to our aging worldwide population [178]. Much of this increase will be in developing countries, such as India and China, and it is therefore crucial to identify cost-effective interventions to combat dementia [178]. Currently available treatments for dementia are not disease modifying, and do not result in symptomatic benefits for all patients. The allure of vitamin D is that it may confer genuine protection in the elderly population against Alzheimer's disease, other forms of neurodegeneration, and vascular pathologies including stroke. Vitamin D receptors and 1α -hydroxylase are widespread in brain regions important for cognitive functions including the hippocampus [179], and deficiency is associated with vascular neuropathology [180]. Several neuroprotective mechanisms have been suggested, including increased phagocytosis of amyloid plagues [181], regulation of neurotrophins [182], and alterations in calcium homeostasis [183]. This raises the question whether circulating vitamin D levels are related to cognitive function or dementia status in humans,

Early small clinical studies provided somewhat limited evidence relating to serum 25(OH)D levels in relation to dementia status or cognitive impairment. The first large cross-sectional population-based study in 2007 using data from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III) did not support the hypothesis that adequate circulating vitamin D may play a neuroprotective role-indeed those with the highest levels of serum 25(OH)D were more likely to be impaired on a limited test of delayed verbal memory [184]. However, this data was reanalyzed using the full range of cognitive tests available to produce a more robust measure of cognition and found that low vitamin D levels were strongly associated with increased odds of cognitive impairment [185]. To address this uncertainty in 2009 the association between serum 25(OH)D levels and cognitive impairment was investigated in 1766 older adults from the Health Survey for England (HSE), a nationally representative population-based study [186]. Odds ratios (95% confidence intervals [CIs]) for cognitive impairment in participants who were severely 25(OH)D deficient (<10 ng/mL), deficient (≥10 ng/mL and <20 ng/mL), and insufficient (≥20 ng/mL and <30 ng/mL) compared with participants with sufficient 25(OH)D (\geq 30 ng/mL) were 2.7 (1.5–5.0), 1.37 (0.8–2.3), and 0.9 (0.5–1.6) after adjustment for age, sex, education, ethnicity, season of testing, and additional risk factors for cognitive impairment. Interest in the association between vitamin D and dementia has subsequently burgeoned, and a large number of clinical and population-based studies have followed.

Several systematic reviews and meta-analyses have now been conducted to make sense of this complex and evolving body of literature. It is clear that despite mixed early findings a consistent picture has since emerged. Balion and colleagues recently published a meta-analysis establishing that serum 25(OH)D levels were lower in Alzheimer's disease patients than cognitively healthy controls, though significant heterogeneity in the differences was observed on the basis of assay used [187]. Participants with serum 25(OH)D levels < 20 ng/mL also scored 1.2 points (95% CI 0.5–1.9) lower on the widely used Mini-Mental State Examination test of cognitive function than those with higher levels of circulating vitamin D [187]. Similarly, Etgen and colleagues' meta-analysis suggests that the odds of cognitive impairment are significantly higher (OR = 2.4, 95% CI 1.8 to 3.2) in participants with low 25(OH)D levels (a cut-point of <10 ng/mL in most studies incorporated) [188].

In 2010 using the InCHIANTI study of 858 Italians we established that severely deficient (<10 ng/mL) elders had increased risk of cognitive decline over 6 years (relative risk = 1.6, CI 1.2 to 2.0) compared to those with sufficient levels (≥30 ng/mL) [189]. Slinin and colleagues also observed a similar association in the Health ABC study in the US across quartiles of serum 25(OH)D, though the trend across groups became non-significant in their fully adjusted model (OR for lowest versus highest quartile = 1.4, 95% CI 0.9 to 2.2) [190]. It should be noted that the cut-point for the lowest quartile in their cohort was relatively high (<20 ng/mL) and their strategy for adjustment for covariates differed from ours. Two more recent studies by Annweiler and colleagues using the EPIDOS cohort in France showed that low 25(OH)D (<10 ng/mL) in elderly women at baseline predicted the onset of non-Alzheimer's dementia over 7 years [191], and those in the highest quintile of baseline dietary vitamin D intake had a reduced risk of developing Alzheimer's disease [192]. Using the Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Slinin and colleagues found that those with baseline vitamin D levels of <10 ng/mL had an increased risk of global cognitive decline compared to those with $\geq 30 \text{ ng/mL}$ (OR = 1.6, 95%, CI 1.1 to 2.2) [193]. Similarly, Breitling and colleagues using the ESTHER study showed that the highest quintile of vitamin D was associated with significantly lower levels of cognitive decline, with a stronger effect observed in women than in men [194].

Controversy remains regarding the appropriate adjustment for covariates in observational studies of vitamin D in relation to cognitive decline or dementia. For example, the sources of vitamin D itself (sunlight exposure, dietary intake, fortification and supplementation) are not likely to be confounders, and adjustment for these variables or proxy measures such as time spent outdoors or latitude is likely to represent over adjustment. Even adjustment for age is not without controversy, as human skin is known to become less efficient at vitamin D production with age. Age is therefore related to the synthesis of vitamin D and is not just a proxy measure for possible unmeasured confounding.

Ultimately randomized controlled trials are needed to establish whether vitamin D supplementation has clinical relevance in this context and can be used to prevent, delay or treat dementia. At this point no large well-designed randomized controlled trials have been conducted, and the causal relationship between vitamin D and dementia remains uncertain and caution should be exercised. Existing trials on vitamin D and cognitive decline have produced inconclusive results and had a number of important drawbacks including small sample sizes (<100) [195,196] and the use of low doses of vitamin D (<520 IU/ day) with a combination of other nutrients [195,197], making interpretation difficult. However, several large trials are currently underway which will provide important new information. The DOHealth trial is being conducted in around 2000 participants aged 70 years and older across eight European cities. Vitamin D3 supplements (2000 IU/day) are one of the three interventions incorporated and cognitive outcomes will be measured over 3 years. Another key trial is the VITAL study in the US that aims to recruit around 20,000 middle aged and older adults. Again one of the interventions investigated will be vitamin D3 supplements (2000 IU/day), although cognitive outcomes over 4.5 years will only be assessed in a subsample of around 10% of participants. Neither trial targets older adults who are known to have low levels of vitamin D and early cognitive changes indicating that they are at high risk for dementia. If these trials do not produce promising results we may be left wondering if a more targeted approach or a different dose of vitamin D supplementation might be more effective.

11. Conclusion

It is now recognized that vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency are a global health problem [1,5,198–201]. A multitude of studies have suggested that vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency not only have negative consequences on bone health but are also likely to be a risk for many acute and chronic illnesses including infectious diseases, autoimmune diseases, cardiovascular disease, type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus, several types of cancer, neurocognitive dysfunction and mental illness, and other diseases, as well as infertility and adverse pregnancy and birth outcomes [24,26,37,49,55,75–79,85,90–94,100–105,109,117,118, 136,141,146,186,187,202,203].

It is interesting that healthy black children in South Africa have blood levels of 25(OH)D of 49 \pm 4 ng/mL [204] similar to adult Maasai herders of 47 \pm 10 ng/mL [205]. It is well documented that blood levels of 25(OH)D are maximum at the end of the summer and are at their nadir at the end of the winter even in Denmark [206]. Physiologically it makes no sense to have wide swings in the circulating levels of 25(OH)D. This is the reason why a three-part strategy to maintain circulating levels of 25(OH)D of at least 30 ng/mL should be encouraged. Sensible sun exposure, which remains the major source of vitamin D for most children and adults [1,207], along with including foods that naturally contain or are fortified with vitamin D [1], and taking a daily supplement of vitamin D should be able to sustain blood levels of 25(OH)D in a range similar to our hunter-gatherer forefathers, i.e. 25(OH)D ~40-50 ng/mL. Since there is no downside to increasing children's and adults' vitamin D status (with the exception of patients with granulomatous disorders) it is reasonable to attain and maintain a circulating level of 25(OH)D of 40-60 ng/mL as recommended by the Endocrine Society Experts or even slightly lower (30-50 ng/mL)

as recommended in "Practical guidelines for supplementation of vitamin D and treatment of deficits in Central Europe: Recommended vitamin D intakes in general population and groups being at risk of vitamin D deficiency" [208], not only for optimal bone health but also for overall health and well-being.

Take-home messages

- Vitamin D deficiency is a global health problem for children and adults. Vitamin D deficiency is associated with rickets and growth retardation in children and osteoporosis and osteomalacia in adults. Vitamin D deficiency has also been linked to many acute and chronic illnesses including some cancers, autoimmune diseases, cardiovascular disease, type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus, infectious diseases and neurocognitive dysfunction and other diseases, as well as infertility and adverse pregnancy and birth outcomes.
- A three-part strategy should be implemented to combat the vitamin D deficiency pandemic which includes:
 - > Eating foods that naturally contain vitamin D,
- > Encouraging food fortification with vitamin D in countries that do not practice this fortification and,
- Providing guidelines for both vitamin D supplementation of general population and for sensible sun exposure as a reliable source of vitamin D.
- Anti-fall and anti-fracture action of vitamin D administration of at least 800 IU/day with at least 24 ng/mL (60 nmol/L) of 25(OH)D serum levels appeared effective and beneficial for musculoskeletal machinery.
- Vitamin D may be instrumental in the immune system homeostasis, and in preventing autoimmune diseases and lowering risk of infections.
- Vitamin D deficient individuals are at increased cardiovascular risk even after adjustments for common cardiovascular risk factors.
- Risk for breast and colorectal cancer decreases as serum 25(OH)D level increases to 30–40 ng/mL (75–100 nmol/L).
- All-cause mortality risk in general population seems to be the lowest at 25(OH)D levels ranging from 30 to 45 ng/mL (75 to 112.5 nmol/L).
- Vitamin D supplementation up to 4000 IU/day in pregnant woman is safe and effective in achieving sufficiency and improving health not only in the mother but also in the developing fetus, every 10 ng/mL increase in maternal 25(OH)D at delivery reduces the risk of four main comorbidities of pregnancy by 16%.
- It is reasonable to attain and maintain a circulating level of 25(OH)D of 30–60 ng/mL as recommended by the Endocrine Society or even slightly lower (30–50 ng/mL) as recommended in "Practical guidelines for supplementation of vitamin D and treatment of deficits in Central Europe", not only for optimal bone health but also for overall health and well-being.

References

- [1] Holick MF. Vitamin D deficiency. N Engl J Med 2007;357:266-81.
- [2] IOM (Institute of Medicine). Dietary reference intakes for calcium and vitamin D. Committee to review dietary reference intakes for calcium and vitamin D. Washington DC: The National Academies Press. Institute of Medicine; 2011.
- [3] Rosen CJ, Abrams SA, Aloia JF, Brannon PM, Clinton SK, Durazo-Arvizu RA, et al. IOM committee members respond to Endocrine Society vitamin D guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2012;97(4):1146–52.
- [4] Holick MF, Binkley NC, Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Gordon CM, Hanley DA, Heaney RP, et al. Evaluation, treatment, and prevention of vitamin D deficiency: an Endocrine Society clinical practice guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2011;96(7): 1911–30.
- [5] Holick MF, Binkley NC, Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Gordon CM, Hanley DA, Heaney RP, et al. Controversy in clinical endocrinology: guidelines for preventing and treating vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency revisited. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2012;97:1153–8.
- [6] Holick MF. Resurrection of vitamin D deficiency and rickets. J Clin Invest 2006;116(8):2062–72.

- [7] Holick MF. Case 3-2009: a 9-month-old boy with seizures. N Engl J Med CPC 2009;360(4):398–407.
- [8] Brown EM, Gamba G, Riccardl D, Lombardi M, Butters R, Klfor O, et al. Cloning and characterization of an extracellular Ca2+-sensing receptor from bovine parathyroid. Nature 1993;366:575–80.
- [9] Malabanan A, Veronikis IE, Holick MF. Redefining vitamin D insufficiency. Lancet 1998;351:805–6.
- [10] Souberbielle J, Lawson-Body E, Hammadi B, Sarfati E, Kahan A, Cormier C. The use in clinical practice of parathyroid hormone normative values established in vitamin D-sufficient subjects. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2003;88:3501–4.
- [11] Holick MF. Editorial: the parathyroid hormone D-lemma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2003:88:3499–500.
- [12] Holick MF. The D-batable parathyroid hormone plateau. Am J Med 2011;124(12): 1095–6.
- [13] Chapuy MC, Schott AM, Garnero P, Hans D, Delmas PD, Meunier J. Healthy elderly French women living at home have secondary hyperparathyroidism and high bone turnover in winter. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1996;81:1129–33.
- [14] Thomas KK, Lloyd-Jones DH, Thadhani RI, Shaw AC, Deraska DJ, Kitch BT, et al. Hypovitaminosis D in medical inpatients. N Engl J Med 1998;338:777–83.
- [15] Holick MF, Siris ES, Binkley N, Beard MK, Khan A, Katzer JT, et al. Prevalence of vitamin D inadequacy among postmenopausal North American women receiving osteoporosis therapy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2005;90(6):3215–24.
- [16] Valcour A, Blocki F, Hawkins DM, Rao SD. Effects of age and serum 25-OH-Vitamin D on serum parathyroid hormone levels. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2012;97(11): 3989-95.
- [17] Glerup H, Middelsen K, Poulsen L, Hass E, Overbeck S, Andersen H, et al. Hypovitaminosis D myopathy without biochemical signs of osteomalacic bone involvement. Calcif Tissue Int 2000:66:419–24.
- [18] Plotnikoff GA, Quigley JM. Prevalence of severe hypovitaminosis D in patients with persistent, nonspecific musculoskeletal pain. Mayo Clin Proc 2003;78:1463–70.
- [19] Holick MF. Vitamin D deficiency: what a pain it is. Mayo Clin Proc 2003;78(12): 1457–9.
- [20] Priemel M, von Domarus C, Klatte TO, Kessler S, Schlie J, Meier S, et al. Bone mineralization defects and vitamin D deficiency: histomorphometric analysis of iliac crest bone biopsies and circulating 25-hydroxyvitamin D in 675 patients. J Bone Miner Res 2010;25(2):305–12.
- [21] Vieth R, Chan PCR, MacFarlane GD. Efficacy and safety of vitamin D3 intake exceeding the lowest observed adverse effect level. Am J Clin Nutr 2001;73:288–94.
- [22] Koutkia P, Chen TC, Holick MF. Vitamin D intoxication associated with an over-the-counter supplement. N Engl J Med 2001;345(1):66-7.
- [23] Araki T, Holick MF, Alfonso BD, Charlap E, Romero CM, Rizk D, et al. Vitamin D intoxication with severe hypercalcemia due to manufacturing and labeling errors of two dietary supplements made in the United States. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2011;96(12):3603–8.
- [24] Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Dawson-Hughes B, Staehelin HB, Orav JE, Stuck AE, Theiler R, et al. Fall prevention with supplemental and active forms of vitamin D: a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. BMJ 2009;339:b3692.
- [25] Murad HM, Elamin KB, Abu Elnour NO, Elamin MB, Alkatib AA, Fatourechi MM, et al. The effect of vitamin D on falls: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2011;96(10):2997–3006.
- [26] Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Willet WC, Wong JB, Stuck AE, Staehlin HB, Orav EJ, et al. Prevention of nonvertebral fractures with oral vitamin D and dose dependency. Arch Intern Med 2009;169(6):551–61.
- [27] Wacker M, Holick MF. Vitamin D—effects on skeletal and extraskeletal health and the need for supplementation. Nutrients 2013;5(1):111–48.
- [28] Holick MF, Biancuzzo RM, Chen TC, Klein EK, Young A, Bibuld D, et al. Vitamin D2 is as effective as vitamin D3 in maintaining circulating concentrations of 25-hydroxyvitamin D. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2008;93(3):677–81.
- [29] Heaney RP, Recker RR, Grote J, Horst RL, Armas LA. Vitamin D3 is more potent than vitamin D2 in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab Mar 2011;96(3):
- [30] Glendenning P, Inderjeeth CA. Screening for vitamin D deficiency: defining vitamin D deficiency, target thresholds of treatment and estimating the benefits of treatment. Pathology 2012;44(2):160–5.
- [31] Binkley N, Krueger D, Cowgill CS, Plum L, Lake E, Hansen KE, et al. Assay variation confounds the diagnosis of hypovitaminosis D: a call for standardization. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004;89:3152–7.
- [32] Frost HM. Structural adaptations to mechanical usage (SATMU): 1. Redefining Wolff's law: the bone modeling problem. Anat Rec 1990;226:403–13.
- [33] Frost HM. On defining osteopenias and osteoporoses: problems! Another view (with insights from a new paradigm). Bone 1997;20:385–91.
- [34] Frost HM, Schonau E. "The muscle-bone unit" in children and adolescents. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab 2000;13:571–90.
- [35] Mithal A, Bonjour JP, Boonen S, Burckhardt P, Degens H, El Hajj Fuleihan G, et al. Impact of nutrition on muscle mass, strength, and performance in older adults.Osteoporos Int Dec 18 2012 [Epub ahead of print].
- [36] Gielen E, Verschueren S, O'Neill TW, Pye SR, O'Connell MD, Lee DM, et al. Musculoskeletal frailty: a geriatric syndrome at the core of fracture occurrence in older age. Calcif Tissue Int Sep 2012;91(3):161–77.
- [37] Rejnmark L. Effects of vitamin D on muscle function and performance: a review of evidence from randomized controlled trials. Ther Adv Chronic Dis 2011;2(1):25–37.
- [38] Brunner RL, Cochrane B, Jackson RD, Larson J, Lewis C, Limacher M, et al. Women's health initiative investigators: calcium, vitamin D supplementation, and physical function in the Women's health initiative. J Am Diet Assoc 2008;108(9):1472–9.

- [39] Sato Y, Iwamoto J, Kanoko T, Satoh K. Low-dose vitamin D prevents muscular atrophy and reduces falls and hip fractures in women after stroke: a randomized controlled trial. Cerebrovasc Dis 2005;20:187–92.
- [40] Moreira-Pfrimer LDF, Pedrosa MAC, Teixeira L, Lazaretti-Castro M. Treatment of vitamin D deficiency increases lower limb muscle strength in institutionalized older people independently of regular physical activity: a randomized double-blind controlled trial. Ann Nutr Metab 2009:54:291–300.
- [41] Pfeifer M, Begerow B, Minne H, Suppan K, Fahrleitner-Pammer A, Dobnig H. Effects of a long-term vitamin D and calcium supplementation on falls and parameters of muscle function in community-dwelling older individuals. Osteoporos Int 2009;20:315–22
- [42] Bunout D, Barrera G, Leiva L, Gattas V, de la Maza MP, Avendaño M, et al. Effects of vitamin D supplementation and exercise training on physical performance in Chilean vitamin D deficient elderly subjects. Exp Gerontol 2006;41(8):746–52.
- [43] Bischoff HA, Stähelin HB, Dick W, Akos R, Knecht M, Salis C, et al. Effects of vitamin D and calcium supplementation on falls: a randomized controlled trial. J Bone Miner Res Feb 2003:18(2):343–51.
- [44] Dhesi JK, Jackson SH, Bearne LM, Moniz C, Hurley MV, Swift CG, et al. Vitamin D supplementation improves neuromuscular function in older people who fall. Age Ageing 2004;33(6):589–95.
- [45] Pfeifer M, Begerow B, Minne HW, Abrams C, Nachtigall D, Hansen C. Effects of a short-term vitamin D and calcium supplementation on body sway and secondary hyperparathyroidism in elderly women. J Bone Miner Res 2000;15:1113–8.
- [46] El-Hajj Fuleihan G, Nabulsi M, Tamim H, Maalouf J, Salamoun M, Khalife H, et al. Effect of vitamin D replacement on musculoskeletal parameters in school children: a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2006;91(2):405–12.
- 47] Boonen S, Lips P, Bouillon R, Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Vanderschueren D, Haentjens P. Need for additional calcium to reduce the risk of hip fracture with vitamin D supplementation: evidence from a comparative meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2007;92(4):1415–23.
- [48] Tang BM, Eslick GD, Nowson C, Smith C, Bensoussan A. Use of calcium or calcium in combination with vitamin D supplementation to prevent fractures and bone loss in people aged 50 years and older: a meta-analysis. Lancet 2007;370(9588):657–66.
- [49] Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Willett WC, Orav EJ, Lips P, Meunier PJ, Lyons RA, et al. A pooled analysis of vitamin D dose requirements for fracture prevention. N Engl J Med Jul 5 2012;367(1):40–9.
- [50] Arnson Y, Amital H, Shoenfeld Y. Vitamin D and autoimmunity: new etiological and therapeutical considerations. Ann Rheum Dis 2007;66:1137–42.
- [51] Carvalho ZF, Blank M, Kiss E, Tarr T, Amital H, Shoenfeld Y. Anti-vitamin D, vitamin D in SLE preliminary results. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2007;1109:550–7.
- [52] Orbach H, Zandman-Goddard G, Amital H, Barak V, Szekanecz Z, Szucs G, et al. Novel biomarkers in autoimmune diseases. Prolactin, ferritin, vitamin D and TPA levels in autoimmune diseases. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2007;1109:385–400.
- [53] Shoenfeld N, Amital H, Shoenfeld Y. The effect of melanism and vitamin D synthesis on the incidence of autoimmune disease. Nat Rheumatol 2009;5: 99–105
- [54] Shapira Y, Agmon-Levin N, Shoenfeld Y. Mycobacterium tuberculosis, autoimmunity, and Vitamin D. CRAI- Clin Rev Allergy Immunol 2010;38:169–77.
- [55] Martineau AR, Wilkinson RJ, Wilkinson KA, Newton SM, Kampmann B, Hall BM, et al. A single dose of vitamin D enhanced immunity to mycobacteria. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2007;176(2):208–13.
- [56] Abu-Amer Y, Bar-Shavit Z. Regulation of TNF-alpha release from bone marrow-derived macrophages by vitamin D. J Cell Biochem 1994;55:435–44.
- [57] Liu PT, Stenger S, Li H, Wenzel L, Tan BH, Krutzik SR, et al. Toll-like receptor triggering of a vitamin D-mediated human antimicrobial response. Science Mar 24 2006;311(5768):1770–3.
- [58] Liu PT, Stenger S, Tang DH, Modlin RL. Cutting edge: vitamin D-mediated human antimicrobial activity against Mycobacterium tuberculosis is dependent on the induction of cathelicidin. J Immunol Aug 15 2007;179(4):2060–3.
- [59] Mahon BD, Wittke A, Weaver V, Cantorna MT. The targets of vitamin D depend on the differentiation and activation status of CD4 positive T cells. J Cell Biochem 2003;89:922–32.
- [60] Boonstra A, Barrat FJ, Crain C, Heath VL, Savelkoul HF, O'Garra A. 1alpha, 25-dihydroxyvitamin d3 has a direct effect on naive CD4(+) T cells to enhance the development of Th2 cells. J Immunol 2001;167:4974–80.
- [61] Cantorna MT, Woodward WD, Hayes CE, DeLuca HF. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 is a positive regulator for the two anti-encephalitogenic cytokines TGF-beta 1 and IL-4. | Immunol 1998;160:5314-9.
- [62] van Etten E, Mathieu C. Immunoregulation by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3: basic concepts. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2005;97:93–101.
- [63] Xue ML, Zhu H, Thakur A, Willcox M. 1 alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 inhibits pro-inflammatory cytokine and chemokine expression in human corneal epithelial cells colonized with *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Immunol Cell Biol 2002;80(4):340–5.
- [64] Fenoglio D, Bernuzzi F, Battaglia F, Parodi A, Kalli F, Negrini S, et al. Th17 and regulatory T lymphocytes in primary billiary cirrhosis and systemic sclerosis as models of autoimmune fibrotic diseases. Autoimmun Rev 2012;12:300–4.
- [65] Dong W, Zhu P. Functional niche of inflamed synovium for Th17-cell expansion and activation in rheumatoid arthritis: implication to clinical therapeutics. Autoimmune Rev 2012;11:844–51.
- [66] Maddur MS, Kaveri SV, Bayry J. Comparison of different IVIG preparations on IL-17 production by human Th17 cells. Autoimmun Rev 2011;10:809–10.
- [67] Borgogni E, Sarchielli E, Sottili M, Santarlasci V, Cosmi L, Gelmini S, et al. Elocalcitol inhibits inflammatory responses in human thyroid cells and T cells. Endocrinology 2008;149:3626–34.

- [68] Liu N, Nguyen L, Chun RF, Lagishetty V, Ren S, Wu S, et al. Altered endocrine and autocrine metabolism of vitamin D in a mouse model of gastrointestinal inflammation. Endocrinology 2008;149:4799–808.
- [69] Gorman S, Kuritzky LA, Judge MA, Dixon KM, McGlade JP, Mason RS, et al. Topically applied 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 enhances the suppressive activity of CD4+CD25+ cells in the draining lymph nodes. J Immunol 2007;179:6273-83.
- [70] Linker-Israeli M, Elstner E, Klinenberg JR, Wallace DJ, Koeffler HP. Vitamin D(3) and its synthetic analogs inhibit the spontaneous in vitro immunoglobulin production by SLE-derived PBMC. Clin Immunol 2001;99:82–93.
- [71] Griffin MD, Lutz W, Phan VA, Bachman LA, McKean DJ, Kumar R. Dendritic cell modulation by 1alpha,25 dihydroxyvitamin D3 and its analogs: a vitamin D receptor-dependent pathway that promotes a persistent state of immaturity in vitro and in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001;98:6800–5.
- [72] Penna G, Adorini L. 1 alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 inhibits differentiation, maturation, activation, and survival of dendritic cells leading to impaired alloreactive T cell activation. J Immunol 2000;164:2405–11.
- [73] Griffin MD, Lutz WH, Phan VA, Bachman LA, McKean DJ, Kumar R. Potent inhibition of dendritic cell differentiation and maturation by vitamin D analogs. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2000;270:701–8.
- [74] Helming L, Böse J, Ehrchen J, Schiebe S, Frahm T, Geffers R, et al. 1 alpha,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 is a potent suppressor of interferon gamma-mediated macrophage activation. Blood 2005;106:4351-8.
- [75] Lang PO, Samaras N, Samaras D, Aspinall R. How important is vitamin D in preventing infections?Osteoporos Int Nov 17 2012 [Epub ahead of print].
- [76] Hujoel PP. Vitamin D and dental caries in controlled clinical trials: systematic review and meta-analysis. Nutr Rev 2013;71:88–97.
- [77] Sabetta JR, DePetrillo P, Cipriani RJ, Smardin J, Burns LA, Landry ML. Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D and the incidence of acute viral respiratory tract infections in healthy adults. PLoS One Jun 14 2010;5(6):e11088.
- [78] Bergman P, Norlin AC, Hansen S, Rekha RS, Agerberth B, Björkhem-Bergman L, et al. Vitamin D3 supplementation in patients with frequent respiratory tract infections: a randomised and double-blind intervention study. BMJ Open 2012;2: e001663, http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2012-001663.
- [79] Watkins RR, Yamshchikov AV, Lemonovich TL, Salata RA. The role of vitamin D deficiency in sepsis and potential therapeutic implications. J Infect Nov 2011:63(5):321-6.
- [80] Pender MP. CD8 + T-cell deficiency, Epstein–Barr virus infection, vitamin D deficiency, and steps to autoimmunity: a unifying hypothesis. Autoimmun Dis 2012:2012:189096.
- [81] Antico A, Tampoia M, Tozzoli R, Bizzaro N. Can supplementation with vitamin D reduce the risk or modify the course of autoimmune diseases? A systematic review of the literature. Autoimmun Rev 2012;12:127–36.
- [82] Sternberg Z. Autonomic dysfunction: a unifying multiple sclerosis theory, linking chronic cerebrospinal venous insufficiency, vitamin D(3), and Epstein-Barr virus. Autoimmun Rev 2012;12:250–9.
- [83] Cutolo M, Pizzorni C, Sulli A. Vitamin D endocrine system involvement in autoimmune rheumatic diseases. Autoimmun Rev 2011;11:84–7.
- [84] Peelen E, Knippenberg S, Muris AH, Thewissen M, Smolders J, Tervaert JW, et al. Effects of vitamin D on the peripheral adaptive immune system: a review. Autoimmun Rev 2011;10:733–43.
- [85] Souberbielle J-C, Body J-J, Laappe JM, Plebani M, Shoenfeld Y, Wang TJ, et al. Vitamin D and musculoskeletal health, cardiovascular disease, autoimmunity and cancer: recommendations for clinical practice. Autoimmun Rev 2010;9:709–15.
- [86] Bouillon R, Carmeliet G, Verlinden L, van Etten E, Verstuyf A, Luderer HF, et al. Vitamin D and human health: lessons from vitamin D receptor null mice. Endocr Rev 2008;29(6):726–76.
- [87] Pilz S, Tomaschitz A, Marz W, Drechsler C, Ritz E, Zittermann A, et al. Vitamin D, cardiovascular disease and mortality. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 2011;75(5): 575–84
- [88] Scragg R. Seasonality of cardiovascular disease mortality and the possible protective effect of ultra-violet radiation. Int | Epidemiol 1981;10(4):337–41.
- [89] Pilz S, Tomaschitz A, Drechsler C, Dekker JM, März W. Vitamin D deficiency and myocardial diseases. Mol Nutr Food Res 2010;54(8):1103–13.
- [90] Muscogiuri G, Sorice GP, Ajjan R, Mezza T, Pilz S, Prioletta A, et al. Can vitamin D deficiency cause diabetes and cardiovascular diseases? Present evidence and future perspectives. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2012;22(2):81–7.
- [91] Witham MD, Nadir MA, Struthers AD. Effect of vitamin D on blood pressure: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Hypertens 2009;27(10):1948–54.
- [92] Wang L, Song Y, Manson JE, Pilz S, März W, Michaëlsson K, et al. Circulating 25-hydroxy-vitamin D and risk of cardiovascular disease: a meta-analysis of prospective studies. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes 2012;1(5(6)):819–29.
- [93] Pilz S, Tomaschitz A, Drechsler C, Zittermann A, Dekker JM, März W. Vitamin D supplementation: a promising approach for the prevention and treatment of strokes. Curr Drug Targets 2011;12(1):88–96.
- [94] Brøndum-Jacobsen P, Nordestgaard BG, Schnohr P, Benn M. 25-Hydroxyvitamin D and symptomatic ischemic stroke: an original study and meta-analysis. Ann Neurol 2013;73:38–47.
- [95] Rock CL, Emond JA, Flatt SW, Heath DD, Karanja N, Pakiz B, et al. Weight loss is associated with increased serum 25-hydroxyvitamin d in overweight or obese women. Obesity 2012;20(11):2296–301.
- [96] Pilz S, Kienreich K, Rutters F, de Jongh R, van Ballegooijen AJ, Grübler M, Tomaschitz A, Dekker JM. Role of vitamin D in the development of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. Curr Diab Rep 2013;13(2):261–70.
- [97] Larsen T, Mose FH, Bech JN, Hansen AB, Pedersen EB. Effect of cholecalciferol supplementation during winter months in patients with hypertension: a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Am J Hypertens 2012;25(11):1215–22.

- [98] Kupferschmidt K. Uncertain verdict as vitamin D goes on trial. Science 2012;337(6101):1476–8.
- [99] Pilz S, Rutters F, Dekker JM. Disease prevention: vitamin D trials. Science 2012;338(6109):883.
- [100] Trivedi DP, Doll R, Khaw KT. Effect of four monthly oral vitamin D3 (cholecalciferol) supplementation on fractures and mortality in men and women living in the community: randomised double blind controlled trial. BMI 2003:326:469.
- [101] Wactawski-Wende J, Kotchen JM, Anderson GL, Assaf AR, Brunner RL, O'Sullivan MJ, et al. Women's Health Initiative Investigators: calcium plus vitamin D supplementation and the risk of colorectal cancer. N Engl J Med 2006;354:684–96.
- [102] Lappe JM, Travers-Gustafson D, Davies KM, Recker RR, Heaney RP. Vitamin D and calcium supplementation reduces cancer risk: results of a randomized trial. Am J Clin Nutr 2007;85:1586–91.
- [103] Bolland MJ, Grey A, Gamble GD, Reid IR. Calcium and vitamin D supplements and health outcomes: a reanalysis of the Women's Health Initiative (WHI) limited-access data set. Am J Clin Nutr 2011;94:1144–9.
- [104] Brunner RL, Wactawski-Wende J, Caan BJ, Cochrane BB, Chlebowski RT, Gass ML, et al. The effect of calcium plus vitamin D on risk for invasive cancer: results of the Women's Health Initiative (WHI) calcium plus vitamin D randomized clinical trial. Nutr Cancer 2011;63:827–41.
- [105] Avenell A, MacLennan GS, Jenkinson DJ, McPherson GC, McDonald AM, Pant PR, et al. RECORD Trial Group: long-term follow-up for mortality and cancer in a randomized placebo-controlled trial of vitamin D(3) and/or calcium (RECORD trial). J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2012;97:614–22.
- [106] Grant WB. Effect of interval between serum draw and follow-up period on relative risk of cancer incidence with respect to 25-hydroxyvitamin D level: implications for meta-analyses and setting vitamin D guidelines. Dermatoendocrinology 2011;3:199–204.
- [107] Grant WB. A review of the evidence regarding the solar ultraviolet-B-vitamin Dcancer hypothesis. Standardy Medyczne/Pediatr 2012;9:610-9.
- [108] Garland CF, French CB, Baggerly LL, Heaney RP. Vitamin D supplement doses and serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D in the range associated with cancer prevention. Anticancer Res 2011;31:617–22.
- [109] Grant WB. Effect of follow-up time on the relation between prediagnostic serum 25-hydroxyitamin D and all-cause mortality rate. Dermatoendocrinology 2012;4:198–202.
- [110] Lazzeroni M, Serrano D, Pilz S, Gandini S. Vitamin D supplementation and cancer: review of randomized controlled trials. Anticancer Agents Med Chem 2013;13:118–25.
- [111] Lappe JM, Heaney RP. Why randomized controlled trials of calcium and vitamin D sometimes fail. Dermatoendocrinology 2012;4:95–100.
- [112] Chung M, Balk EM, Brendel M, Ip S, Lau J, Lee J, et al. Vitamin D and calcium: a systematic review of health outcomes. Evid Rep Technol Assess (Full Rep) Aug 2009(183):1–420.
- [113] Zittermann A, Iodice S, Pilz S, Grant WB, Bagnardi V, Gandini S. Vitamin D deficiency and mortality risk in the general population: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. Am J Clin Nutr 2012;95(1):91–100.
- [114] Pilz S, Iodice S, Zittermann A, Grant WB, Gandini S. Vitamin D status and mortality risk in CKD: a meta-analysis of prospective studies. Am J Kidney Dis 2011;58(3):374–82.
- [115] Pilz S, Dobnig H, Tomaschitz A, Kienreich K, Meinitzer A, Friedl C, et al. Low 25-hydroxyvitamin D is associated with increased mortality in female nursing home residents. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2012;97(4):E653–7.
- [116] Putz-Bankuti C, Pilz S, Stojakovic T, Scharnagl H, Pieber TR, Trauner M, et al. Association of 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels with liver dysfunction and mortality in chronic liver disease. Liver Int 2012;32(5):845–51.
- [117] Bjelakovic G, Gluud LL, Nikolova D, Whitfield K, Wetterslev J, Simonetti RG, et al. Vitamin D supplementation for prevention of mortality in adults. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2011(7):CD007470.
- [118] Rejnmark L, Avenell A, Masud T, Anderson F, Meyer HE, Sanders KM, et al. Vitamin D with calcium reduces mortality: patient level pooled analysis of 70,528 patients from eight major vitamin D trials. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2012;97(8):2670–81.
- [119] Dinizulu T, Griffin D, Carey J, Mulkerrin E. Vitamin D supplementation versus combined calcium and vitamin D in older female patients—an observational study. J Nutr Health Aging 2011;15:605–8.
- [120] Peterlik M, Grant WB, Cross HS. Calcium, vitamin D and cancer. Anticancer Res 2009;29:3687–98.
- [121] Lerchbaum E, Obermayer-Pietsch B. Vitamin d and fertility—a systematic review. Eur J Endocrinol 2012;166:765–78.
- [122] Wehr E, Pilz S, Schweighofer N, Giuliani A, Kopera D, Pieber T, et al. Association of hypovitaminosis d with metabolic disturbances in polycystic ovary syndrome. Eur | Endocrinol 2009;161:575–82.
- [123] Thys-Jacobs S, Donovan D, Papadopoulos A, Sarrel P, Bilezikian JP. Vitamin d and calcium dysregulation in the polycystic ovarian syndrome. Steroids 1999;64: 430–5.
- [124] Pal L, Berry A, Coraluzzi L, Kustan E, Danton C, Shaw J, et al. Therapeutic implications of vitamin d and calcium in overweight women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Gynecol Endocrinol 2012;28:965–8.
- [125] Selimoglu H, Duran C, Kiyici S, Ersoy C, Guclu M, Ozkaya G, et al. The effect of vitamin d replacement therapy on insulin resistance and androgen levels in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. I Endocrinol Invest 2010:33:234–8.
- [126] Kotsa K, Yavropoulou MP, Anastasiou O, Yovos JG. Role of vitamin d treatment in glucose metabolism in polycystic ovary syndrome. Fertil Steril 2009;92:1053–8.
- [127] Wehr E, Pieber TR, Obermayer-Pietsch B. Effect of vitamin d3 treatment on glucose metabolism and menstrual frequency in pcos women—a pilot study. J Endocrinol Invest 2011;34:757–63.

- [128] Ott I, Wattar L, Kurz C, Seemann R, Huber IC, Maverhofer K, et al. Parameters for calcium metabolism in women with polycystic ovary syndrome who undergo clomiphene citrate stimulation: a prospective cohort study. Eur J Endocrinol 2012:166:897-902
- [129] Ozkan S, Jindal S, Greenseid K, Shu J, Zeitlian G, Hickmon C, et al. Replete vitamin d stores predict reproductive success following in vitro fertilization, Fertil Steril 2010:94:1314-9
- [130] Anifandis GM, Dafopoulos K, Messini Cl. Chalvatzas N, Liakos N, Pournaras S. et al. Prognostic value of follicular fluid 25-oh vitamin d and glucose levels in the ivf outcome. Reprod Biol Endocrinol 2010;8:91.
- Yoshida M, Kawano N, Yoshida K. Control of sperm motility and fertility: diverse factors and common mechanisms. Cell Mol Life Sci 2008;65:3446-57
- [132] Blomberg Jensen M, Bjerrum PJ, Jessen TE, Nielsen JE, Joensen UN, Olesen IA, et al. Vitamin d is positively associated with sperm motility and increases intra-
- cellular calcium in human spermatozoa. Hum Reprod 2011;26:1307–17. [133] Ramlau-Hansen CH, Moeller UK, Bonde JP, Olsen J, Thulstrup AM. Are serum levels of vitamin d associated with semen quality? Results from a cross-sectional study in young healthy men. Fertil Steril 2011:95:1000-4
- [134] Pilz S, März W, Wellnitz B, Seelhorst U, Fahrleitner-Pammer A, Dimai HP, et al. Association of vitamin d deficiency with heart failure and sudden cardiac death in a large cross-sectional study of patients referred for coronary angiography. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2008:93:3927-35.
- [135] Wehr E, Pilz S, Boehm BO, März W, Grammer T, Obermayer-Pietsch B. Low free testosterone is associated with heart failure mortality in older men referred for coronary angiography. Eur I Heart Fail 2011:13:482-8.
- [136] Lerchbaum E, Pilz S, Boehm BO, Grammer TB, Obermayer-Pietsch B, März W. Combination of low free testosterone and low vitamin d predicts mortality in older men referred for coronary angiography. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 2012;77: 475-83
- [137] Wehr E, Pilz S, Boehm BO, März W, Obermayer-Pietsch B. Association of vitamin d status with serum androgen levels in men. Clin Endocrinol 2010;73:243-8.
- [138] Lee DM, Tajar A, Pye SR, Boonen S, Vanderschueren D, Bouillon R, et al. Association of hypogonadism with vitamin d status: the european male ageing study. Eur J Endocrinol 2012;166:77-85.
- [139] Nimptsch KPE, Willett WC, Giovannucci E. Association between plasma 25-oh vitamin d and testosterone levels in men. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 2012;77:106-12.
- [140] Pilz S, Frisch S, Koertke H, Kuhn J, Dreier J, Obermayer-Pietsch B, et al. Effect of vitamin d supplementation on testosterone levels in men. Horm Metab Res 2011;43:223-5.
- [141] Hollis BW, Johnson D, Hulsey TC, Ebeling M, Wagner CL. Vitamin D supplementation during pregnancy: double-blind, randomized clinical trial of safety and effectiveness. J Bone Miner Res 2011;26(10):2341-57.
- [142] Hamilton SA, McNeil R, Hollis BW, Davis DJ, Winkler J, Cook C, et al. Profound vitamin D deficiency in a diverse group of women during pregnancy living in a sun-rich environment at latitude 32°N. Int J Endocrinol 2010;2010:917428.
- [143] Johnson DD, Wagner CL, Hulsey TC, McNeil RB, Ebeling M, Hollis BW. Vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency is common during pregnancy. Am J Perinatol Jan 2011;28(1):7-12.
- [144] Webb AR, Kline L, Holick MF. Influence of season and latitude on the cutaneous synthesis of vitamin D3: exposure to winter sunlight in Boston and Edmonton will not promote vitamin D3 synthesis in human skin. J Clin Endocrinol Metab Aug 1988;67(2):373-8.
- [145] Moan J, Lagunova Z, Lindberg FA, Porojnicu AC. Seasonal variation of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D and its association with body mass index and age. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2009;113(3-5):217-21.
- Wagner CL, McNeil R, Hamilton SA, Winkler J, Rodriguez Cook C, Warner G, et al. A randomized trial of vitamin D supplementation in 2 community health center networks in South Carolina.Am J Obstet Gynecol 2013;208
- [147] Hollis B, Wagner C. Assessment of dietary vitamin D requirements during pregnancy and lactation. Am J Clin Nutr 2004;79:717-26.
- [148] Heaney RP, Armas LA, Shary JR, Bell NH, Binkley N, Hollis BW. 25-Hydroxylation of vitamin D3: relation to circulating vitamin D3 under various input conditions. Am J Clin Nutr 2008;87(6):1738-42.
- [149] Kumar R, Cohen WR, Silva P, Epstein FH. Elevated 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D plasma levels in normal human pregnancy and lactation. J Clin Invest 1979;63(2):342-4.
- [150] Bouillon R, Van Assche FA, Van Baelen H, Heyns W, DeMoor P. Influence of the Vitamin D-binding protein on serum concentrations of 1,25(OH)2D. J Clin Invest 1981;67:589-96.
- [151] Bikle DD, Gee E, Halloran B, Haddad JG. Free 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D levels in serum from normal subjects, pregnant subjects, and subjects with liver disease. J Clin Invest 1984;74(6):1966-71.
- [152] Haughton M, Mason R. Immunonephelometric assay of vitamin D-binding protein. Clin Chem 1992;38(9):1796–801.
- [153] Wagner CL, Taylor SN, Johnson DD, Hollis BW. The role of vitamin D in pregnancy and lactation: emerging concepts. Womens Health (Lond Engl) 2012;8(3):323-40.
- [154] Walker VP, Zhang X, Rastegar I, Liu PT, Hollis BW, Adams JS, et al. Cord blood vitamin D status impacts innate immune responses. J Clin Endocrinol Metab Jun 2011:96(6):1835-43.
- [155] Greer FR, Hollis BW, Napoli JL. High concentrations of vitamin D2 in human milk associated with pharmacologic doses of vitamin D2. I Pediatr 1984:105:61-4.
- [156] Novakovic B, Sibson M, Ng HK, Manuelpillai U, Rakyan V, Down T, et al. Placenta-specific methylation of the vitamin D 24-hydroxylase gene: implications for feedback autoregulation of active vitamin D levels at the fetomaternal interface. J Biol Chem 2009;284(22):14838-48.

- [157] Stevenson IC, Hillvard CI, MacIntvre I, Cooper H, Whitehead MI, A physiological role for calcitonin: protection of the maternal skeleton. Lancet 1979;2(8146): 769-70
- [158] Shinki T. Ueno Y. DeLuca HF. Suda T. Calcitonin is a major regulator for the expression of renal 25-hydroxyvitamin D3-1alpha-hydroxylase gene in normocalcemic rats. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999;96(14):8253–8.
- Zaidi M, Moonga BS, Abe E. Calcitonin and bone formation: a knockout full of surprises, I Clin Invest 2002:110(12):1769-71.
- [160] Ajibade DV, Dhawan P, Fechner AJ, Meyer MB, Pike JW, Christakos S. Evidence for a role of prolactin in calcium homeostasis: regulation of intestinal transient receptor potential vanilloid type 6, intestinal calcium absorption, and the 25-hydroxyvitamin D(3) 1alpha hydroxylase gene by prolactin. Endocrinology 2010:151(7):2974-84.
- [161] Carneiro RM, Prebehalla L, Tedesco MB, Sereika SM, Hugo M, Hollis BW, et al. Lactation and bone turnover: a conundrum of marked bone loss in the setting of coupled bone turnover. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2010;95(4):1767–76. [162] Marya R, Rathee S, Lata V, Mudgil S. Effects of vitamin D supplementation in
- pregnancy. Gynecol Obstet Invest 1981;12:155-61.
- [163] Brooke OG, Brown IR, Bone CD, Carter ND, Cleeve HJ, Maxwell JD, et al. Vitamin D supplements in pregnant Asian women: effects on calcium status and fetal growth, Br Med I 1980:1:751-4.
- [164] Brooke OG, Butters F, Wood C. Intrauterine vitamin D nutrition and postnatal growth in Asian infants. Br Med J 1981;283:1024.
- [165] Brooke O, Brown I, Cleeve H, Sood A. Observations on the vitamin D state of pregnant Asian women in London. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1981;88:18-26.
- [166] Maxwell J, Ang L, Brooke O, Brown I. Vitamin D supplements enhance weight gain and nutritional status in pregnant Asians. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1981;88: 987-91
- [167] Food and Nutrition Board. Standing committee on the scientific evaluation of dietary reference intakes. Dietary reference intakes for vitamin d and calcium. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press; 2010
- [168] Fischer D, Schroer A, Lüdders D, Cordes T, Bücker B, Reichrath J, et al. Metabolism of vitamin D3 in the placental tissue of normal and preeclampsia complicated pregnancies and premature births. Clin Exp Obstet Gynecol 2007;34(2):80-4.
- Bodnar LM, Catov JM, Simhan HN, Holick MF, Powers RW, Roberts JM. Maternal vitamin D deficiency increases the risk of preeclampsia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2007;92(9):3517-22.
- [170] Wagner CL, McNeil RB, Johnson DD, Hulsey TC, Ebeling M, Robinson C, et al. Health characteristics and outcomes of two randomized vitamin D supplementation trials during pregnancy: a combined analysis.] Steroid Biochem Mol Biol Jan 10 2013, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jsbmb.2013.01.002 [pii: S0960-0760(13)00006-X [Epub ahead of print]].
- [171] Merewood A, Mehta SD, Chen TC, Bauchner H, Holick MF. Association between vitamin D deficiency and primary cesarean section. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2009;94(3):940-5
- [172] Burris HH, Rifas-Shiman SL, Kleinman K, Litonjua AA, Huh SY, Rich-Edwards JW, et al. Vitamin D deficiency in pregnancy and gestational diabetes mellitus.Am J Obstet Gynecol Sep 2012;207(3) [182.e1-8].
- [173] Lagishetty V, Liu NQ, Hewison M. Vitamin D metabolism and innate immunity. Mol Cell Endocrinol 2011;347(1-2):97-105.
- [174] Liu NQ, Kaplan AT, Lagishetty V, Ouyang YB, Ouyang Y, Simmons CF, et al. Vitamin D and the regulation of placental inflammation. [Immunol 2011;186(10):
- [175] Hollis B, Wagner C. Vitamin D requirements during lactation: high-dose maternal supplementation as therapy to prevent hypovitaminosis D in both mother and nursing infant. Am J Clin Nutr 2004(Suppl. 80):1752-8.
- [176] Wagner CL, Hulsey TC, Fanning D, Ebeling M, Hollis BW. High-dose vitamin D3 supplementation in a cohort of breastfeeding mothers and their infants: a 6-month follow-up pilot study. Breastfeed Med 2006;1(2):59-70.
- Current concepts in vitamin D requirements for mother and her breastfeeding infant. In: Wagner C, editor. International Society for Research in Human Milk and Lactation. Trieste, Italy: Breastfeeding Medicine; 2013.
- [178] Ferri CP, Prince M, Brayne C, Brodaty H, Fratiglioni L, Ganguli M, et al. Alzheimer's Disease International. Global prevalence of dementia: a Delphi consensus study. Lancet 2005;366(9503):2112-7.
- [179] Eyles DW, Smith S, Kinobe R, Hewison M, McGrath JJ. Distribution of the vitamin D receptor and 1 alpha-hydroxylase in human brain. J Chem Neuroanat 2005;29(1):21-30.
- [180] Buell JS, Dawson-Hughes B, Scott TM, Weiner DE, Dallal GE, Qui WQ, et al. 25-Hydroxyvitamin D, dementia, and cerebrovascular pathology in elders receiving home services. Neurology 2010;74(1):18-26.
- [181] Masoumi A, Goldenson B, Ghirmai S, Avagyan H, Zaghi J, Abel K, et al. 1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 interacts with curcuminoids to stimulate amyloid-beta clearance by macrophages of Alzheimer's disease patients. J Alzheimers Dis 2009;17(3):703–17.
- [182] Fernandes de Abreu DA, Eyles D, Feron F. Vitamin D, a neuro-immunomodulator: implications for neurodegenerative and autoimmune diseases. Psychoneuroendocrinology 2009;34(Suppl. 1):S265-77.
- [183] Brewer LD, Porter NM, Kerr DS, Landfield PW, Thibault O. Chronic 1alpha,25-(OH)2 vitamin D3 treatment reduces Ca2+-mediated hippocampal biomarkers of aging, Cell Calcium 2006;40(3):277-86.
- [184] McGrath J, Scragg R, Chant D, Eyles D, Burne T, Obradovic D. No association between serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 level and performance on psychometric
- tests in NHANES III. Neuroepidemiology 2007;29(1–2):49–54. [185] Llewellyn DJ, Lang IA, Langa KM, Melzer D. Vitamin D and cognitive impairment in the elderly U.S. population. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2011;66(1):59-65.

- [186] Llewellyn DJ, Langa KM, Lang IA. Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentration and cognitive impairment. J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol 2009;22(3):188–95.
- [187] Balion C, Griffith LE, Strifler L, Henderson M, Patterson C, Heckman G, et al. Vitamin D, cognition, and dementia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Neurology 2012;79(13):1397–405.
- [188] Etgen T, Sander D, Bickel H, Sander K, Forstl H. Vitamin D deficiency, cognitive impairment and dementia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 2012;33(5):297–305.
- [189] Llewellyn DJ, Lang IA, Langa KM, Muniz-Terrera G, Phillips CL, Cherubini A, et al. Vitamin D and risk of cognitive decline in elderly persons. Arch Intern Med 2010:170(13):1135-41.
- [190] Slinin Y, Paudel ML, Taylor BC, Fink HA, Ishani A, Canales MT, et al. Osteoporotic Fractures in Men (MrOS) Study Research Group: 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels and cognitive performance and decline in elderly men. Neurology 2010;74(1): 33-41
- [191] Annweiler C, Rolland Y, Schott AM, Blain H, Vellas B, Beauchet O. Serum vitamin D deficiency as a predictor of incident non-Alzheimer dementias: a 7-year longitudinal study. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 2011;32(4):273-8.
- [192] Annweiler C, Rolland Y, Schott AM, Blain H, Vellas B, Herrmann FR, et al. Higher vitamin D dietary intake is associated with lower risk of Alzheimer's disease: a 7-year follow-up. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2012;67(11):1205–11.
- [193] Slinin Y, Paudel M, Taylor BC, Ishani A, Rossom R, Yaffe K, et al. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group: association between serum 25(OH) vitamin D and the risk of cognitive decline in older women. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2012:67(10):1092-8.
- [194] Breitling LP, Perna L, Muller H, Raum E, Kliegel M, Brenner H. Vitamin D and cognitive functioning in the elderly population in Germany. Exp Gerontol 2012;47(1):122-7.
- [195] Chandra RK. Effect of vitamin and trace-element supplementation on cognitive function in elderly subjects. Nutrition 2001;17(9):709–12.
- [196] Corless D, Dawson E, Fraser F, Ellis M, Evans SJ, Perry JD, et al. Do vitamin D supplements improve the physical capabilities of elderly hospital patients? Age Ageing 1985;14(2):76–84.
- [197] Manders M, De Groot LC, Hoefnagels WH, Dhonukshe-Rutten RA, Wouters-Wesseling W, Mulders AJ, et al. The effect of a nutrient dense drink on mental and physical function in institutionalized elderly people. J Nutr Health Aging 2009;13(9):760–7.

- [198] Batieha A, Khader Y, Jaddou H, Hyassat D, Batieha Z, Khateeb M, et al. Vitamin D status in Jordan: dress style and gender discrepancies. Ann Nutr Metab 2011:58(1):10–8.
- [199] Kaykhaei MA, Hashemi M, Narouie B, Shikhzadeh A, Rashidi H, Moulaei N, et al. High prevalence of vitamin D deficiency in Zahedan, southeast Iran. Ann Nutr Metab 2011;58(1):37–41.
- [200] Peters BS, dos Santos LC, Fisberg M, Wood RJ, Martini LA. Prevalence of vitamin D insufficiency in Brazilian adolescents. Ann Nutr Metab 2009;54(1):15–21.
- [201] Wahl DA, Cooper C, Ebeling PR, Eggersdorfer M, Hilger J, Hoffmann K, et al. A global representation of vitamin D status in healthy populations. Arch Osteoporos Dec 2012;7(1–2):155–72.
- [202] Mezza T, Muscogiuri G, Sorice GP, Prioletta A, Salomone E, Pontecorvi A, et al. Vitamin d deficiency: a new risk factor for type 2 diabetes? Ann Nutr Metab 2012:61(4):337-48.
- [203] Moreno LA, Valtueña J, Pérez-López F, González-Gross M. Health effects related to low vitamin D concentrations: beyond bone metabolism. Ann Nutr Metab 2011:59(1):22–7.
- [204] Adams JS, Hewison M. Update in vitamin D. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2010;95(2):
- [205] Prentice A, Schoenmakers I, Jones KS, et al. Vitamin D deficiency and its health consequences in Africa. In: Holick MF, editor. Vitamin D: physiology, molecular biology, and clinical applications. 2nd ed. Humana Press; 2010. p. 505–28.
- [206] Luxwolda MF, Kuipers RS, Kema IP, Dijck-Brouwer DAJ, Muskiet FAJ. Traditionally living populations in East Africa have a mean serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentration of 115 nmol/l. Br J Nutr 2012;23:1–5.
- [207] Brot C, Vestergaard P, Kolthoff N, Gram J, Hermann AP, Sorensen OH. Vitamin D status and its adequacy in healthy Danish perimenopausal women: relationships to dietary intake, sun exposure and serum parathyroid hormone. Br J Nutr 2001;86(1):S97–S103.
- 208] Pludowski P, Karczmarewicz E, Bayer M, Carter G, Chlebna-Sokol D, Czech-Kowalska J, et al. Practical guidelines for supplementation of vitamin D and treatment of deficits in Central Europe: recommended vitamin D Intakes in general population and groups being at risk of vitamin D deficiency. Vitamin D—minimum, maximum, optimum; 2012 [Warsaw, Poland].

Autoantibodies against Class II-associated invariant chain are biomarkers of early spondyloarthritis

Spondyloarthritis (SpA) is a common musculoskeletal inflammatory disease occurring with heterogeneous clinical features. It typically affects the spine but also peripheral joints, sometimes with no evidence of axial involvement. At present, the diagnosis of SpA in the early phase of the disease is difficult, due to the lack of specific biomarkers and the delay in radiographic signs of spinal or joint damage. The aim of recently published study by Baerlecken et al. (Ann Rheum Dis 2013; May 17. Epub ahead of print PMID:23687263) was the identification of new autoantibodies as diagnostic biomarkers of SpA. Serum samples from a large cohort of patients affected with axial or peripheral SpA, and from a large number of healthy or disease controls, including patients with psoriatic arthritis, rheumatoid arthritis, systemic lupus erythematosus, HIV infection, and blood donors, were tested for autoantibodies towards new autoantigens. A double methodological approach was employed. Protein array technology, based on cDNA of fetal brain tissue, was used as a screening test in a number of patient and control sera; subsequently results were confirmed by ELISA using as autoantigens Class II-associated invariant chain CD74 recombinant protein, or a peptide representing the extracellular domain of CD74, namely CLIP. The authors identified IgG antibodies against either complete CD74 protein or CLIP domain in a large proportion of patients with SpA, in particular in HLA-B27 negative patients in the early disease stage. In conclusion, autoantibodies towards CD74 have been proposed as diagnostic tools for early diagnosis of SpA.

Anna Ghirardello, PhD